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The original spellings and format are generally retained in the transcript. In particular, most of the European place names are misspelled. Most of the men’s names are spelled correctly but not all. There are a fair number of cases where a name is spelled two different ways on the same page or even in the same paragraph.
Word wrap in which a line of text continues to the next line is not necessarily as in the original. If there is any question of accuracy, please contact Wesley Johnston (wwjohnston@aol.com) so that the original images can be checked to assure that the transcript does or does not match the original.

The footnotes were not in the original. They have been added where subsequent information of sufficient interest is known.

Caveat: The histories written by the units or unit members just after the war sometimes have gross errors. This one is no exception. This book should be used as a starting point for understanding what happened, to be checked against more at-the-time records, such as After Action Reports and Morning Reports.

The original book is 6” wide and 9 5/16” high. Thus the original pages are much smaller than the 8 1/2” x 11” format of this transcription.
It is important to note that the memoir is from first-hand knowledge only until mid-September 1944, when Gene Jones became a casualty. He returned 12 October 1944, but he was there only 4 days, and was again a casualty 16 October 1944 and was out for the duration.
Many of the facts and spellings (particularly of the names of the dead) in the roster are dubious or clearly wrong. It appears that Gene Jones wrote there what he received from the men or families, without being able to check the information for accuracy. One of the most persistent errors is that B/23 never reached Châteaudun; all references to Châteaudun are really to the events at Marboué, north of Châteaudun.
One of the most unfortunate errors in the book is the complete omission, from either the text or the narrative, of Pvt. Carl Welborn, who was wounded 1 October 1944, with Johnson and Gagne, and died of his wounds the next day.
The Ambush at Marboué, France on August 15, 1944

Pages 25 and 26 recount the events and casualties of the ambush. In 2001, Pascal Bulois published the book “Marboué, 15 Août 1944” in January 2001, aided in his research of B/23 casualties by Wesley Johnston. The events took place just north of Marboué, well south of Chartres which was their intended objective. The road they traveled comes over a crest, with woods on either side, and then comes down a long straight gradual slope, into town. This allowed the Germans at the north edge of the town excellent observation and direct fire into the column.

The man unable to be identified was identified much later as Pfc. Joseph A. Guido, whose name is on the monument at Marboué. However Wesley Johnston’s subsequent research found (11 July 2008) that the 4 September 1944 Morning Report showed that Guido survived the ambush and was later injured in action on 21 August 1944. So the identity of the unknown remains unknown.
Pascal Bulois identified four French resistance fighters of the group Sinclair killed in the ambush. They were riding with the B/23 column. Pascal Bulois’ book also included photos of Darknell’s helmet, and the dog tags of Lemay (mangled) and James K. Carbohn – all found by Pascal Bulois at the site where the vehicles were taken into the nearby woods in the days after the ambush. In addition to the wounded listed in the text by William Eugene Jones, the Morning Reports also included Boglino, Drasher, Fortunes, Hollingsworth, Lynch, Morrow, Porter, Szelewski and Zinn as wounded.
The Deaths in the Dornot Bridgehead, 9-10 September 1944

On page 30 is the following tragic paragraph.

I can only think how bad this Moselle River affair was as I haven’t words to express it. Too, I am only telling what I saw or relating incidents of first hand information. Foy and Underwood were killed near each other just minutes after they had come to me and remarked about my hole not being deep enough. We were without drinking water and I gave Philo a sip the evening before he was killed that night. To my immediate right lay McCaffrey and an unidentified soldier, both killed by a “potato masher” grenade. Little Joe Gallegos was injured seriously and died later of the wounds. Horetzko, Dale, White, Cocco, James Jones, Eason, Mastokas, Strezlec, Kalosky and Poore were injured. Pensone was killed, so was Driver, Collins, High and Nordgaard. Driver, Collins and High were recent replacements, Driver having been with the company for about ten days. Our Battalion Commander, Colonel Leslie Allison, was seriously injured during this affair and died later. I recall “Pop” Hughes, Colonel Allison and I dividing some rations just a short while before Colonel was wounded.

Here are the names and home states of the men who were killed, presented in the order in which they appear in the text: Pvt. Lloyd Foy of North Carolina, Pfc. Wilburn T. Underwood of Georgia, Pvt. Fred W. Philo, Jr. of Missouri, Sgt. R. E. M. McCaffery [note spelling difference] of Mississippi, Pfc. Joe A. Gallegos of Colorado, Pfc. John Ponsone [note spelling difference] of Tennessee, Pvt. George W. Driver, Jr. of Pennsylvania, Pvt. Francis B. Collins of California, Pvt. Howard B. High of Pennsylvania, either Pfc. Bennie G. Nordgaard of North Dakota or T/4 George Nordgaard of New York, Lt. Col. Leslie Allison of Kentucky. John Ponsone’s remains were not found until November 11, 1999, when local historians Alain and Elisabeth Gozzo found them.
The MIAs at St. Vith
The account of the capture of the 1st and 2nd Platoons southeast of St. Vith begins on page 35. Here is the list of one officer and 35 enlisted men missing in action as of 22 December 1944, which was reported in the B/23 Morning Report dated 25 December 1944. They are listed in the order in which they appeared in the Morning Report. (Note that many of these are not included either in the narrative nor the text of “Buzzings of Company ‘B’”.)
Koltowski, Raymond A., S Sgt

Anderson, Fred, Pfc

Anderson, Kenneth, Pvt

Armbruster, Daniel C., T Sgt

Bernhardt, Elwood J., S Sgt

Bossier, Herbert W., Tec 5

Carder, Theodore N., Pfc

Clay, Henry C., Pfc

Foust, Charles R., Tec 5
Franco, John, Pvt

Frayser, John W., Pfc

Freeman, William B., Pvt

Frenchman, Atkin, Pfc

Garvie, Herbert C., Pfc

Gillespie, James M., Pfc

Hamby, Walter, Pfc
Hampton, Leonard G., Pfc

Hayes, Ray I., Pfc

Hoffman, Bernard V., Pfc
Howell, Willie W., Sgt

Kazmirczak, Walter J., Sgt

Kermath, Charles H., Sgt

Knupp, Alfred L., Pfc

Lamb, Ralph E., Pvt

Lewis, William E., S Sgt

Miday, Bernard E., Pvt

Nelson, Robert L., Jr., Pfc

Nowell, Russell D., Sgt


Pace, Arthur F., Pvt

Ochran, Albert F., S Sgt

Parmer
, George, Pfc
Parker, William H., Pfc

Parsons, Edward O., Pvt
Pasoka, Marcil J., Pfc
Passmore, Dewey W., Pvt

Passmore, Ovid A., T Sgt

Pate, Laurence E., Pfc

Patterson, Clarence E., Jr., Tec 5

Pennington, Dale R., Pfc

Porter, Edmond A., S Sgt

Roberts, Walter W., Pvt

Rogers, Alvin E., Pfc

Scanlon, Joseph T., Pfc

Smith, William C., Pfc

Stephens, William R., Pvt

Stewart, David M., Pvt

Strzelec, Joseph J., S Sgt

Tate, Dennis H., Pvt

Taylor, Thomas J., Pvt

Tussey, Arthur W., S Sgt

Walter, Daniel A., S Sgt

Webb, Kenneth, Pvt

White, Loyd N., Pfc

Wither, George A., Sgt

Taylor, George A., Jr., 1st Lt

The “Record of Events” entry in the B/23 Morning Report of 22 December 1944 reads as follows.

22 Dec 44 Co outflanked by counter-attack by enemy. Two platoons dug in on high ground cut off by enem. Co remaining withdrew from their position at St. Vith, Belgium VP 8688. CP Group in contact with enemy at Petit Thier, Belgium.
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FOREWORD

Writing this History-Story is something I’ve had in mind to do for months. Several of the men asked me to get out some information about our old company and pass it on down the line, so I knew of no better way than to “dig in” and get it. I contacted all the men I possibly could, and through my “alert agents” and contributors, Richard T. Hall, James L. Barnes, Ted Heretzko, Kenneth Jones and the many individuals, and from the pages of my own personal diary, I have gathered the information that you will read in the following pages.
In writing the “Buzzings” of the company I have recalled incidents of various men that I thought would be interesting. I’m sorry I couldn’t mention more names, but it would be impossible to tell something of each man. In all, I have attempted to bring out the highlights so the reader can picture the man and the incident. Of course when a buddy’s name is mentioned most of you will recall him and something about him.

Any remark that is made, or anything said about any man is said in good faith. I realize the condition in which a combat soldier lives tends to control his life and actions very much, and certain incidents that happened were just one of the many things that happened to soldiers all over the world. All our men meant well and did well. These incidents related don’t by any means reflect upon the man’s character whose name is mentioned, but many are fond memories that we all like to recall. Many times I think of certain fellows or incidents that give me a good laugh and it’s a source of genuine pleasure to be able to pass it on to a reader.

A TRIBUTE TO THE BEST OF MEN
(William E.)

It’s only natural that an ex-GI would think his old outfit was the very best, and if he doesn’t he should. I don’t say that Company “B” was superior to all others, but I know there were none better. Not from the fact that it was Company “B” 23rd. Armored Infantry Battalion, but from the fact of the men that made up Company “B”. It has always been a great pleasure for me to become acquainted with people, and I’m happy to say that I met some of the finest men in Company “B” that America has, or ever will produce: men from all walks of life. It didn’t differ if they were from the Bronx, wide open plains of the west, or the lowlands of the deep south, they were the cream of the crop.

The association of these men together helped more ways than one to mold or re-mold character. And I know, even now, that all of us can say we were benefitted in some respect by the many days and months that were spent together.

The tragic part is knowing that some of our fine group gave everything they had, life—life that you and I might live. May we forever strive to preserve the liberty and principals those fine men died for. To me they were, and still are, the heroes. Let all of us bow our heads in silent prayer for the men who fell that we might stand. Their memory is very precious—may it forever be.

A WORD FROM THE ASSOCIATE WRITER
(Irene Jones)

I have met a few of the men that were in service with my husband, but feel as if I’m acquainted with the entire company. When I first met Gene (William E. to you) in 1942, he was on his first furlough, and he talked a great deal of the men that he was associated with. When I married him in May 1946, he still spoke of them often, now in 1949 he is still talking about his buddies, so you can readily see why I feel as if I know most of you.

It’s always a pleasure to hear him speak so kindly of the fine group of men that were in his outfit. He has been working for sometime gathering material for this publication, and although my part has been very little in making it possible, I’ll assure you it has been a real joy to assist him. I just hope every fellow gets as big a kick from reading it as Gene (William E.) has writing it.
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Captain Dudley Britton
INTERESTING INDIVIDUALS YOU WILL REMEMBER

Most Popular:

  (a) 
Mail time—McCartney or whoever was mail man.

  (b)
Chow time—The KP that was serving the best dish when you made the trip through the chow line the second time.

Most Unpopular:

 (a)
When chow wasn’t so good—Harless and the entire kitchen crew.

 (b)
When guard or fatigue detail was picked—Maab, Augistine, Hughes, Hauer or Becker.

Most popular at furlough time—Richard T. Hall (Co. Clerk). Everyone trying to find when their furlough would start.

Most popular in general—Any fellow that would loan you some money when you were broke.

Tallest—Huffman.

Shortest—Gallegos.

Biggest “chowhounds”—Faber and Hess with Ferry and Wilson running a very close second.

Morale Builders—Komray and Horetzko.

Biggest “griper”—Owens by a big vote. Mac Lloyd took special training under Owens but never did reach the precise point as his instructor.

Most settled—“Doc” Hodges, Kiedaisch, Foust, Sewell and Rasmussen.

Quietest—Oldham, Frenchman, Fox and Knupp.

Most pleasing expression—Scanga, Luczkiewicz, Dahmer, Philo, Oettchen and Cherchella.

Biggest Belly—Ducasse (he worked in the kitchen) and Gosset.

Skinniest—Hodges, Haut, Van Lewis and “Pop” Hughes.

Most Comical—James and Willborg.

Easiest Going—Strumpf, Morrow and Duncan.

Most Emphatic—Marcu and Levinson.

Most Genial—Gleason, Hobel, Underwood, and Oliveri.

Most Studious—Koulos.

Barbers—Hilbun, Arnold and later Meechum and Falorio.

__________________
CAN YOU BEAT THIS

I wonder if the number THIRTEEN is still important in Roscoe Gilbert’s life. Roscoe entered military service on the THIRTEENTH day of the month and was sent to an army camp to take THIRTEEN weeks of basic training. Later he was transferred to the Seventh Armored Division on the THIRTEENTH day of the month, and was assigned to Company “B” just before Louisiana-Texas maneuvers and he was the THIRTEENTH man in his squad.

After maneuvers were over and we had returned to camp, Gilbert was assigned the THIRTEENTH bed in the barrack. Next came furloughs, Gilbert was given his, THIRTEEN day one, that is, starting on the THIRTEENTH day of the month. After a tour of duty on the Mohave Desert in California we returned to Benning and again furloughs were the order of the day, so when time for Gilbert’s rolled around it rolled on the THIRTEENTH for THIRTEEN DAYS.

Next came the trip to Europe and just to keep his record intact the Queen Mary docked in the Firth of Clyde, Scotland, on the THIRTEENTH day of June. The battle ground of all Europe, France, was our first “war” stop, so guess what happened? Yep, you’re correct, Gilbert was in his first battle on the THIRTEENTH day of the month.

Now Gilbert is back home married and happy, and we are anxious to know just what THIRTEEN has to do with your life as a civilian.
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CITATIONS

Combat Command “B” was awarded a DISTINGUISHED UNIT CITATION for combat service from 17 to 23 December 1944. This citation was recommended 11 March 1948 and approved and will be cited in Department of the Army General Orders by the Secretary of The Army.

For the interest of the readers who would like to know what units composed Combat Command “B” or what units were fighting along with them, I will list them below.

Combat Command “B” 7th Armored Division, composed of the following units:

Headquarters and Headquarters Company;

17th Tank Battalion;

31st Tank Battalion;

23rd Armored Infantry Battalion;

38th Armored Infantry Battalion;

87th Cavalry Reconnaissance Squadron Mechanized (less troop D;)

275th Armored Field Artillery Battalion;

434th Armored Field Artillery Battalion;

965th Armored Field Artillery Battalion;

168th Engineer Combat Battalion;

3rd Platoon Company F, 423rd Infantry Regiment;

Company B, 33rd Armored Engineer Battalion and Company A,

814th Tank Destroyer Battalion (SP).

The above units were cited for outstanding performance of duty in action from 17 to 23 December 1944, inclusive at St. Vith, Belgium. The enemy attacks of tanks and infantry grew in intensity as they attempted to destroy the stubborn defense that the command had set up to deny them the use of the key communication center at St. Vith. By the second day the enemy forces had by-passed St. Vith and were constantly threatening our flanks in an effort to encircle the command east of the Salm River, but they were repeatedly thrown back by our valiant troops who rose from their fox holes and fought in hand-to-hand combat to stop the enemy’s penetration, and in their actions they inflicted heavy losses on the numerically superior foes.
As the command failed to give up the St. Vith highway and railroad center to the Germans, their entire offensive lost its initial impetus and their supply columns became immobilized. By the 21st of December the enemy was forced to divert a corps to the capture of St. Vith. Under extreme pressure by overwhelming forces, Combat Command “B” who had held for six days so gallantly was ordered to withdraw west of the Salm River.

Despite the withdrawal, the command had made an epic stand without a prepared defense, and despite the heavy casualties, Combat Command “B” had inflicted crippling losses and imposed a great delay upon the enemy by their masterful and grimly determined defense.

THE DISTINGUISHED UNIT CITATION streamer was presented to the colors of Combat Command “B”, 7th Armored Division, by General Livesay, Commandant of the Armored School, at a ceremony at Ft. Knox, Ky., July 20, 1948.

BRONZE STAR

 There has recently been an Army General Order put out to the effect that those men, who, as members of the armed forces of the United States, were cited by name on or after 7 December 1941 and Prior to 3 September 1945, in orders or in a formal certificate, for meritorious or exemplary in ground combat against the enemy, may make application to the Adjutant General, Washington, D. C., for the award of the Bronze Star medal. This applies to the men who were awarded the Combat Infantry Badge and the Medical Badge award in the filed during the time of actual combat against the enemy.
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Along with other units of the 7th Armored Division, the 23rd Armored Infantry Battalion, of which Company “B” was a member, was awarded the FRENCH FOURRAGERE. This information was given me through the courtesy of THE SEVENTH ARMORED DIVISION ASSOCIATION in their publication “WORKSHOP NEWS”.

__________________

THE FRENCH FOURRAGERE

DECISION NO. 274

THE PRESIDENT OF THE PROVISIONAL GOVERNMENT OF THE

FRENCH REPUBLIC

Cites to the

ORDER OF THE ARMY:

23rd Armored Infantry Battalion (7th American Armored Division)

“A magnificent unit full of dash. After operating at an advanced point of the 7th Armored Division from 14 to 31 August 1944 from Maas to Metz, seizing almost without any destruction fifteen important French cities, the unit then gave bloody battle for six days on the Moselle, succeeding in spite of considerable losses in establishing a bridgehead at Arnaville, assembly area for the attack which liberated Metz.”
23rd Armored Infantry Battalion (7th American Armored Division)

“A splendid unit animated by the highest military qualities. It was alerted from 16th December 1944 at Rhineburg, Germany, to come and close up the breach made by the enemy in the Belgian Ardennes, and held for almost three days the wave of the German Armored Divisions breaking toward France. Increasing it’s counter-attacks it succeeded by itself in checking the enemy offensive from 16 to 23 December 1944 at the cost of enormous sacrifices.”
These citations included the award of the Croix de guerre with palm.


Signed:  Bidault
Paris, 22 July 1944

P. Colonel Pedron,
General Juin

  Office Chief of the staff of
  Chief of the General Staff of

    National Defense
    National Defense

__________________

THE MEDAL OF VERDUN

All men who were a member of Company “B” at the time of the liberation of Verdun, France, are entitled to the MEDAL OF VERDUN. This award was given by the city of Verdun to show their appreciation to the many men who helped liberate them.

__________________

Morse Gamble, Wayne, Mich., informs me that he received several letters from people living in Klimmen. One lady wrote and told him she lived near a US cemetery where Koulos and some of our other comrades were buried. She said she often visited the graves and decorated them. This lady asked that any of the men who were billeted in her home from November 28 to December 7, 1944, to please write her. Her address: J. Meurders-Curfs, A-25, Limburg, Nederland.

__________________

I imagine several of the men will recall the Free French and the Dutch soldiers who fought with us. Kenneth Jones reminded me of one of the faithful Dutch men who served voluntarily for a length of time accepting only gifts from his American comrades. This was John Althuizen. Kenneth had the pleasure of assisting John in becoming an American Citizen in summer 1949.
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"BUZZINGS of COMPANY B" 
__________________

Company “B” was represented with men from forty three states. North Carolina seemed to have led the field with well over forty men marching through the portals from March 1942 until deactivation. Pennsylvania and New York ran Carolina a close race with around forth while Michigan and Illinois had twenty or more. Brooklyn furnished more man power than any other city with at least nine representatives.

We did our share of traveling. We traveled from the Atlantic to the Pacific and back again; from Georgia to Massachusetts and New York plus the many maneuvers. Then of course from the English Channel to the Baltic Sea in such a round about way that it almost reached the two thousand mile mark. While in the United States we were located in six different camps in five states.
Captain Britton says even now that he feels just as he did the day he was awarded the Silver Star–that any award he was presented for outstanding combat service was won by the men of his command. He expressed this to the Colonel who made the presentation of the Silver Star to him after the “Bulge.”

In a recent letter to me he again expressed himself on this subject in effect that no finer group of men could have ever been assembled, and no officer could have had the privilege of having a better group of men under his command than Company “B” 23rd Armored Infantry Battalion. During the war Captain Britton repeatedly requested for men in our company to be made officers as he felt that they well deserved the chance, however he had no authority to do this as these appointments had to come through higher channels and he was denied the request except in a few cases.

From every officer in the company that I have heard from comes expressions just as Captain Britton’s. Perhaps men of Company “B’s” caliber was an outstanding reason for the outstanding officer of the Company, and reverse the situation and it would add up the same—Good men and good officers.
I only know of four men who were in the same platoon when Company “B” left U. S. for Europe that came back together to Camp Kilmer, and they were in the second platoon, Hugh B. Howard, Paul E. Glasser, Paul Krug and William G. Garner.

__________________

In relating the history and incidents of our company, I shall refer back to the time when we were Company “E” 48th Armored Infantry Regiment in order to bring us up to date.

We were activated from the 3rd Armored Division at Camp Polk, La. March 1, 1942, under the command of Brigadier L. McD. Silvester (Roll out the barrel). General Silvester was shortly thereafter promoted to Major General. Colonel W. H. Jones was Regimental Commander. Our non-commissioned officers were a cadre from the 36th Armored Infantry Regiment with Frederick J. “Baldy” Mabb as First Sergeant. 1st Lieutenant Richard Horrocks “Hard Rocks” was company commander, remember him? He tried to be tough but he made as a good commander.
I don’t suppose I will have to remind any of the men about the good old days in Louisiana, will I? Don’t misunderstand me, men, Louisiana had it’s good spots, but it so happened that we were located in one of the bad spots. A little of everything happened at Polk. Every man was either homesick or lovesick at first. One of the recruits drank a bottle of iodine, several fist fights occurred and yellow jaundice was a very common thing. There were more yellow eyes peering at you than you shake a stick at. “Baldy” Mabb wore a pair of shaded glasses all the time to keep the company commander from seeing his eyes for fear of the “ole
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Man” sending him to the hospital. Mabb wasn’t the only one that didn’t want to go to the hospital because several of the fellows wouldn’t go on sick call for fear of being hospitalized. I remember Ryan suffering a severe case, so did Pellar and others.

Our company walked off with Regimental boxing honors. We had some good leather slingers in Hobel, Arfi, Ochran, Pellar and Slawinski. The big surprise came when Johnny Slawinski sprained his shoulder a day or so before the main bout, but boxed in a match, went in the ring slinging and in a matter of minutes floored his opponent as flat as a plant. As a matter of fact all our men did a swell job that night.
A few promotions came up and some of the fellows received their first chevrons they ever wore in uniform. PFC stripes were sporting all around.
We dug fox holes all over Camp Polk area, buried our noses in the grass while our backs, blistered with the rays of the penetrating sun, or were soaked with a quick shower of rain. Our training schedule was pretty tough. We learned our rifles, how to disassemble and reassemble them and our other weapons blindfolded. We also learned how to read maps and how to handle the compass. This was the day of Bonin and Jiu-jitsu; also close order drill with some of the men carrying a piece of timber to satisfy the drill sergeant they knew right from left. Remember Pitkin range? It was a good place for a goat pasture, but that’s about all. This was the place where DeArmond became so angry while attempting to drill the company in mud over their shoe tops and in a downpour of rain he wished so much for a lake to drive us in when none of the men reacted to his brisk commands.
This was also the day of Zarling, Kovie, Lyons, Moorehead, Swisher, Wise, Tollie Reece, Love, Hammner, Augustine, Swindle, Page, “Cotton” Ingram, Guffey, Rowdy Bateman, “Shorty” Wright, Huett, Atleri and Milanese.

At first we lived in five man tents and after a length of time we were granted passes to Leesville and DeRidder. I don’t ever remember seeing Leo Johnson go to town and return with a cap, or at least the one he was wearing when he left camp. In most cases he was accompanied to town by Mac Lloyd and Saboteur and occasionally returned to camp by the MP’s, finally winding up under a nice cool shower. Despite all this I saw Leo do things that no other person could under the same condition. I’ve seen Leo just about passed out some night when he and some of the men had taken on too much, and the next morning he could hike to the rifle range and walk around on his hands half the range distance. He was plenty tough. “Baldy” Kelly nicknamed him “Rock” because of these feats he could perform. “Rock” was a good soldier.
I recall an incident that occurred one Saturday night between Obie T. Harold and Frank “Old Man” Speer. The pair had been on pass that evening to Leesville and had used the bottle a little too freely, managing to get back to camp they made their way to the PX to quench their thirst with a few added beers. After this neither of them were in any mood for any foolishness, but they became riled in an argument which resulted in a deep desire to exchange blows. Obie T., being much the larger, just threw Frank across his shoulders and held on to him by the heels walking up and down the company street crowing like a rooster and Frank threatening him with every breath.
Be it every so rummy, there was no place like Leesville. Any soldier that wanted to drink could get “stewed” there.
Yes Sir, Fellows, Old Camp Polk was some place. It was here that we formed friendships and buddies that will forever be remembered. The friendships formed here were bound together with something stronger than war or any other force on this earth could sever. We had one brother combination, the Hassebrocks from Illinois. Both Harold and Loren were well liked. Sometime later Harold was transferred
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to the medics of our regiment but we still regarded him as one of the company.

There were three Joneses in the outfit as of now, all from North Carolina. Zeb, an Indian, who later became the company bugler was some character. James was a very quiet fellow and William E. could do enough talking for all three. At this time we only had two Johnsons, Leo and Hadden, and only one Smith, Walter G. No, no Browns as of yet.

Despite all the “outside” activities in and around Camp Polk, Old Company “E” went right ahead to their training like a good group of rookie soldiers. I’ll bet some of us still have mosquito bites on our rumps. Remember those slit trenches and how the mosquitoes would come at you like dive bombers when you pay the trenches a visit? and those chiggers (Jiggers) could maneuver in more unusual spots!
Just after we moved into barracks and were settled happily near the theatre, bus line, mess hall and PX, we were informed through our “staff” of “latrine” lawyers that we were to maneuver in Texas and Louisiana, but before we could go on maneuvers we would have to fire our rifles for record. Several days were spent “dry running” in preparation for this event and most of our elbows were so sore from digging them in the ground trying to get that prone position, that we could hardly rub against anything when firing time came.

None of us had received furloughs up to this time, so the Regimental Commander issued an order that the best shot from each company would receive a short furlough. This sounded fine. By this time we had a new Company Commander, Captain Francis “Glamour Boy” Wall, and he assured us that he would carry out the plans about the furlough. We had lots of fun on the old range and near the finish the contest really became a heated affair. I was lucky enough to win over Golden Myers by a very few points. Old Golden really had me sweating. I always felt as if he should have been given a furlough too. This was a very good furlough for me as I met the girl that became my wife some four years later.
Since the time for maneuvers was at hand my furlough was cut short but I was given a very pleasant surprise one day in the mess hall when Captain Wall, on behalf of the company, presented me with an army wrist watch. I still have this watch, and needless to say I value it highly. Lieutenant Mayer, a big overgrown good natured fellow was with the company. He was a very popular officer and well liked by every man I suppose.
Now every fellow began hunting himself a piece of timber to make his shooting iron out of because we were headed for the wide open spaces. There were some terrible looking “things” they called rifles, and I believe 1st Sergeant Mabb carried a broom handle, you know, too busy to whittle out a rifle.
I hardly know how “mustache” Vandenberg’s squad would have made out hadn’t it been from the fact that “Red” Herring was kept on KP most of the time. Every time that “Red” was on KP, which was most every day, he would slip around to our half track often with a few “extras” that he just “hated” to see thrown away. Big Lee Gresham was our driver then and he could eat just about as much as any one person could carry around.
If we got short on rations “Red” would just volunteer for KP and that immediately took care of the situation. Martin Harrill alway managed to ease around into the various crap games and win enought to buy himself a few “suds” when they sold them.

How well I remember one night when the tactical problem was called off and we thought we were going to get a night’s rest. This was late September 1942, near Dairy, Louisiana. “Red” Herring eased out of the bivouac area, made proper connections with a Louisiana civilian, and returned to the area loaded down with several bottles of “spirits,” or what the men called “rot Gut.” This was very impressive to several of the men; so impressive that a jeep was secured and left the area only
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to return in a very short while with enough for most everyone who wanted it. In a matter of moments, the word spread like wild fire, and as our track had an extension cord and light on it, naturally the men grouped around it for the night’s entertainment.
Results of the night’s operation: blanket burned, small change thrown away, equipment scattered to the four winds and several blows were exchanged while fists flew fast. Finally those participating became so tired and “stewed: that they just more or less passed out in place. Several of them were somewhat surprised the following morning to find that they had bedded in an area where cattle had recently “bivouacked.”
Leo went on a protracted spree from here. The Company Commander asked Leo’s squad leader to get some more men and dunk him in the cool water of a nearby stream, but after squad leader De Armond tried it Leo bluffed him, so they left “Rock” sitting on the bank of the little stream whooping and crying. The company had already been given orders to move out, and “Rock” was holding up the detail. Finally I succeeded in getting him to load on his track and we pulled out. Lieutenant Jack Holmes was acting Company Commander. After we left out Leo and his squad leader got into it and the “cocky” De Armond let Leo have it over the head with one of those wooden rifles. Poor old “Rock” looked pretty bad walking around with his head bandaged up, but it didn’t kill his spirit.

While we were bivouacked in the next area several of the men were given passes to Mansfield, Louisiana, and other nearby towns, but the passes were short lived when our regiment was given passes to Natchitoches. There was a Woman’s college in this town, and some of the men had a brilliant idea of taking over the school and relieving the Mayor of his official duties, which they did, but it didn’t seem to suit the War Department for soldiers to be conducting a woman’s school and all passes were cancelled then and there.
Each man in the company was issued an armored combat suit for the maneuvers and they really felt fine on those cold damp nights when a fellow was lying on the ground attempting to get some sleep. I believe they were the best garment the army ever issued. I sure wish I had “lost” one and sent it home as some did. There was an old lake filled with logs near this area and the water was just about as filthy as could be found I suppose, but I did think it was the best place to take an early morning dip after the sun had made its appearance. Of course this place was strictly “off limits” but that water really pepped you up.

Speaking of combat suits, I always thought that Glasser looked the funniest in a combat suit every morning standing in the chow line. He, like the rest of us, never did crawl out of the “sack” until the last minute, and of course there wasn’t enough water to wash our faces, and we didn’t go to any extra trouble to dress our hair, so we all looked pretty rugged with our hair standing straight up and our mustaches full of Louisiana dust.

All the vehicles carried an old tin can or bucket along to make coffee in. It didn’t matter where the water came from just so we could find time to brew a little. Roscoe Gilbert and Morris could drink the blackest coffee I have ever seen. Sutter’s entire squad was one hundred per cent coffee “hounds.”

Remember the Sabine River, Boys? Remember the night your “fanny” almost froze when you had to wade it? I remember the night we got fooled when we carried the big cable for a mile or so to stretch across the river as a guide, then we didn’t have to cross it that night. But the crossing came later and we almost froze that damp foggy morning as we bunched up like hogs on the ground in an effort to keep warm.
Personally outside the kitchen crew and “Red” herring, I believe the motor pool group fared better than any of our men. They were one swell bunch of fellows, but the reason I said they fared the best was because they were in position to

10

get food and water when we weren’t. The motor pool was headed by Bullock. He, Orlowski, Matern, Komray, Porter, Dahmer and all the other men did a swell job of maintenance. We also had a fine group of drivers.
Most all the men grew a moustache, even “Shorty” Steegmiller. And speaking of Steegmiller, he could drink more “suds” than anyone I know of and for their size, he and Drasher could make more noise and fuss than anyone unless it was Gresham. Mabb always called on Gresham to sound off in the early morning to disturb us and get us out of our “sacks.” Gresham had a very powerful voice.
John McBride, who had succeeded Erlich as company clerk, and later transferred to Service Company, showed up in the area one day and he even had a moustache. He really looked funny with big coveralls on. I told him he looked just like Sergeant Major Westlake, pot-gut and all. A moustache suited some of the men. It was very becoming to Zebracki, but Grecio and Owens looked frightful. “Pop” Gillespie and Ted Horetzko would have grown one but I don’t believe they had enough beard. I had one that looked somewhat like Owen’s but Steegmiller and Morris in an attempt to shave it off, messed it up so I had to finish it. Of course it was hardly visible anyway.

All in all we had lots of fun and hard work wallowing in the dust and mud during maneuvers, and Headquarters reported that the problems looked very good and we were benefitted greatly by our combat training.

Everyone was very happy to return to camp. It gave “Baldy” Mabb, Bernhardt, Vandenberg, Hodges, Sewell and all the other married men a chance to see their wives. It gave all of us a good chance at a shower bath, too. Not only this, but it gave us a chance at Leesville again. Oh yes, the name of the campe we came back to was Polk. New Camp Polk. What a hole! This camp had been constructed hurriedly and we, as a well trained group of combat soldiers, were immediately put to work digging stump and beautifying the surroundings.
We also had to stand reveille and retreat at this man’s camp and there were parts, too. But it did have it’s good points such as a day room, Coca-Colas, pool tables, regular mail, etc. Chapman was mail man and in charge of the day room, but later discharged due to age. While at New Camp Polk we experienced the coldest weather ever in Louisiana. I think everyone put on their “long handles.” I’m telling you those shirts and drawers felt pretty good. Ask Owens if they didn’t. I saw Owens give a good impression of John L. Sullivan one night dressed in his “long Johns.” Owens was some guy. He griped about everything and enjoyed it.

Most everyone got furloughs and passes here. Some of the men just took extended furloughs while others roamed the “off limits: area of DeRidder and paid for the offense by pulling time in the stockade. This was also the good old days of bus checking. Each bus that came in was emptied and each passenger that was able to stand up, had to walk around the bus. The men were all searched as they stepped off the bus and this resulted in poor old “Red Eye” Deely and Gwidz, as well as others, losing their bottles on several occasions. If a soldier staggered—“well load him on a jeep and take him to the medics!”

Several of the men living in town could bring the others a little drink on the early morning bus as the MP’s didn’t seem to think much about searching the riders in the morning since the busses came in at such an early hour.

“Baldy” Kelly and “C” Kiger never failed to take a pass to town; nor did they ever fail to come through my barracks and awaken me regardless what time they returned from town. They usually came back on the last bus and on by my bunk and would drag my blanket off or arouse me in some other manner. James Jones and Owens were two of the more regular and faithful Leesville fans. They had a clever plan worked out where they could remain in town until time for the last bus to run and still get to the head of the line. One would fake a drunk and the other would be forced to hold his buddy up so he wouldn’t fall. The MP’s usually put these type
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men on the bus first so they wouldn’t get into trouble. One cold Saturday night the MP’s got wise to this old stunt and Jones and Owens had to sweat out the long line. This was the last time they pulled this old trick. Wilkes and Bogatz were also faithful to dear old Leesville.

We pulled lots of guard duty while at Camp Polk. Some of our men were in O. C. S. (Old camp Stockade) and we had to assist in guarding them while they cleaned up the various areas around camp.
Sergeant Harless and company fed Captain Wall’s boys pretty well. Wall was as big a “chow hound” as any of the men. Sometime later we got a new company commander, Captain Lynn Carlson, who had the appearance of an ex-school teacher, a little Fatherly looking. “Pop” Hughes and Augistine were acting First Sergeants and at least half of the company were listed on possible cadres that never did mature. How many can picture Hughes as he would come into the mess hall and shout “at ease” then use a few of his pet words and in no uncertain terms announce that there would be a physical inspection after chow? He had a special name for it, remember what it was?
The entire winter was spent in routine training such as marching to the field for a compass or map reading, smoking, shooting the “well known bull” and returning to the area. Of course there was the obstacle course and bayonet training. And lest I forget, the round robin classes. Lieutenants Giger, German and Evans joined the company while at New Polk. That marching to the motor pool each morning to get our guns and then back by in the evening to clean them was a pain in the neck, especially when each squad was just given about two cleaning rods and a patch or two for each man. If you could turn your gun in without it getting a close inspection you were O. K.

New latrine rumors began to fly fast and the next thing we knew we were headed: (1) oversea (2) Camp Pine, N. Y. (3) Tennessee maneuvers of California desert. Through Texas, Arizona and New Mexico we traveled and landed on the Mohave Desert at Camp Cox Comb, Calif. surrounded by Cox Comb, Palen and Iron Mountain and not the beautiful orange groves and lovely women we had always thought of when the Golden State was mentioned.

Our experiences were great but very hard on the desert. I shall never forget the fifteen miles march across Palen Pass that the infantry had to make on May fifth, nor shall I forget how bad, physically, our men looked as they staggered in for food and a drink of water that evening. Some of the men had chewed gum to prevent their mouth from becoming so dry, but even this didn’t keep their mouth moist and the gum had to be pulled out in strings. Several passed out and had to be carried in. These incidents were not a matter of not being a man, but a matter of overtaxing good men’s strength.

I remember “Freckles” Buddin and his opinion about having his men to do this as part of their training. I presume the same one was responsible for this that had us to police up the area from our company to the Parker Dam highway each Saturday afternoon. Water was as scarce as “hen’s teeth” except from the shower room, however we must have drunk hundreds of gallons of that Colorado River water that was carried to our tents in the late hours of the night. If there happened to be a little ice thrown away at the PX and you could manage to get a little chunk and drop it in your steel helmet, you had some good water to sip on during the night.

We lined up for everything here as usual, newspapers on Sunday mornings, milk occasionally, beer and soft drinks. We also had to line up to march through that almost unbearable heat to some shows. We had lots of good entertainment while there but the evil part of it was when some of the higher officials decided that every one should go to see those personal appearance shows regardless if they wanted to or
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not. This took the spice out of the entertainment. The movies were pretty good. Colonel Moloney had a bulldozer to level off the place for his “Boys” to sit and enjoy a show with comfort.

It was right much of a show to see the men loitering to chow, especially on Sunday mornings. Some of us would just get up in time to get there half dressed and barefoot. At first we just stood up and ate like horses from our plates on planks that were nailed on post driven in the ground, but later we began to eat like people when tables were built. The food in camp was pretty good and prepared well, but many times in the field it was scarce. Many a time we sat down to eat what little we were served and a dust storm came by and covered it. We ate bushels of sand in the old Mohave Desert.
Of course the trips to Los Angeles were fine, but usually we would get back late on Sunday night and had to crawl out of the “sack” so early the next morning that we looked and felt like bums. There were plenty girls in Los Angeles and most any type of entertainment. The Paladium, Hollywood Canteen, as well as all the bars were favorite spots to visit while in Los Angeles. “Red Eye” Deely gave the crowd at the canteen a free show one night by singing “Pay me no ‘tention, pay me no mind.” This was Deely’s favorite when he was “right.” One of the popular orchestras playing at the Canteen that evening was very nice to accompany him.
One night big Joe Strezlec was about “two up” and he walked into a bar across from the Cecil Hotel and asked for a drink. A little sailor was sitting at the bar sipping away and said something that Joe didn’t like or either didn’t look to suit him, so Joe just picked him up and threw him across the bar and hollered “over board sailor!” Joe then took both hands and cleared the bar of all glasses and bottles. The bartender looked as if he could crawled through a key hole. That Strezlec was a rugged boy!

Those three day problem were killers with cactuses for pillows and side winder rattlers or scorpions for bed fellows, and on the fourth of May when we went through the battle inoculation course it was plenty uncomfortable under thirty caliber machine gun fire with perspiration running in your eyes and booby traps throwing sand all in your mouth. Most of us had just about as much “spunk” and ambition as those old poor and feeble jack rabbits that managed to get from the wheels of an oncoming vehicle.
As long as I live I don’t believe I will ever forget the “fly detail.” One KP always had to chase and kill flies all day and the latrine orderly had to always be armed fully with a swatter. By this time our cots had give away to dry rot and we either slept on the ground or on bed rolls if we had them.

Of all the hard times any poor soldiers had outside of combat it was the thirty day maneuver we pulled. We chased the “Reds” all over the country with nothing but a low morale, certainly no water or rest. Believe you me (as if you fellows didn’t know) that was a hot old place. It was a great day on the sixteenth of July 1943, when we started back for Cox Comb and learned that we were moving east to Fort Benning, Georgia. There wasn’t any doubt but what the men were all glad to hear of this move.

We loaded and rode trucks to Fredia, Calif.
 where the company served us cold milk—boarded the train and pulled out for Georgia on the seventh of August. The trip across the country was very enjoyable with several stops along the way for exercise. We traveled the Santa Fe trail and the old train really moved down the line through Arizona, New Mexico, Colorada, Kansas, Missouri, Illinois, Kentucky, Tennessee, edged Alabama and on into the peach state.
On the eleventh of August we arrived at Fort Benning and morale was sky high. When we first came to Benning we didn’t know of Phoenix City, Alabama, but it didn’t take Gus Ferrara and others long to discover the skating rink there, and it didn’t take others long to find that plenty of “fluid” could be bought, also plenty
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of girls and of course everyone was initiated into Idle Hour Park. Too, Columbus, Georgia was just on the south side of the river along with the paratroopers.
Right away we got two new officers, Lieutenants Hauritz and Hunt. Captain Carlson was transferred just before leaving the desert and made Major.
 Now Captain William Mitchell was assigned to our company and took command and Lieutenant Evans was transferred to Headquarters Company. We regretted to see Evans go and so did he as he was very fond of the company. I never remember hearing Evans speak to a group of soldiers unless he first addressed them as Gentlemen. Mitchell wasn’t a stranger to our company as he had been Battalion motor officer and our drivers and mechanics were well acquainted with him. Lieutenant Tommy was attached to our company in a short while.
We received passes and a few got furloughs after we arrived at Benning. Next we were confronted with a new experience—guarding German war prisoners while they harvested the peanut crop in Georgia. This wasn’t too bad as most of the farmers had good food they would serve sometime and several of the fellows met some very pretty “Georgia Belles.” Frankly this was the first “gold brick” assignment we had ever been given. I will say that I have never had a taste for peanuts since.
On the first prison detail we were stationed near Americus, Georgia at Southers Field. Somewhere or other I never think of Americus but what my mind doesn’t revert to the New York Cafe there. What about it, fellows? Americus was a pretty good spot. Our own company had to furnish the MP’s, and I don’t believe any of our men had to be sent in. We were really on the well known “ball,” or was it our MP’s? Is this correct, Hughes?
Some of our men met and married girls from Americus. My regards to this town—there were some fine people there. Company “B” was well entertained and the USO was very thoughtful of us. Americus was always a favorite spot to spend week end passes. How well I remember Loren Hassebrock, Matern, Morris and I spent one week-end there, and we rented just one room in the hotel (two of us bivouacked on the floor) when we left some of the fellows got the wise idea of taking along a few of the things in the room as souvenirs. We carried everything but the mattress and the furniture. For some reason or other we were never able to a room in this same hotel again. As a matter of fact Matern and Morris got several ideas on this week-end, and I really had my hands full.

We continued our prison guarding detail by moving to Spence Field near Moultrie, Georgia, on September the fifteenth. This was an Army Air Base, Wacs and all, but the cadets and air force officers seemed to have control of the Wacs and all, so we trampled off to Moultrie to find our entertainment. All in all the prison guarding detail was a pretty good deal. Lieutenants Houn and Buddin fell in love with the Air force and were transferred to AAF reclassification center at Nashville, Tennessee, just before we were relieved of the prison guarding detail.

Back to Fort Benning—Sand Hill area. We were now a better trained group of soldiers than ever, really a fighting group of men, so, we had to go beautifying our yards again.
Captain Mitchell was transferred and along came good old lanky Britton—1st Lieutenant Dudley J. Britton. Of course no person was liked by everyone, but I believe Dudley J. suited as well for company commander as anyone could. He fitted just like an old shoe. I will always recall the first time I ever saw Britton. He was a second “Looey” and range officer at Camp Polk, and we were on the rifle range for our first time during basic training. He was wearing an old cavalry hat and walking around in that awkward easy going manner that war or anything else will never change.

I’m wondering if Apprigliano can stir up a dish of spaghetti as well as he could in 1943. How about that, Frank? One time that winter his people sent him some
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spaghetti along with the required ingredients that really make it good, and Frank, along with Dileo, really went to town in the company’s kitchen preparing it, and several of us went to town devouring it. Come on down and make me a dish of it sometime, Frank.
Ten mile road marches were a regular thing these days with the kitchen crew most always being excused, along with any ailing member. We had to fire our rifles again while at Benning for record. I remember while we were firing Lieutenant Conyers informed us through Ryan, our athletic non-com, that we could purchase tickets for the Louisiana State-University Georgia football game that was to be played at Columbus, Georgia, sometime later in the fall. So Ryan, “Smitty” and several of us bought tickets, but on the Saturday of the game we were not through firing, but good old Dudley J. heard of it and eased us back to camp on the kitchen truck and told us to get our passes and go if Battalion would grant them. We had a hard time getting out of camp but finally we secured our passses and we all went to town in Euratt’s Pontiac and saw the football game.
Getting from Columbus back to camp wasn’t so much trouble. All you had to do was stand in line a block or two long at Howard “Packing” Company; then once you were packed on the bus you were very comfortable. Of course, you probably didn’t have any seat, but you couldn’t fall, because you were packed between so many you didn’t even have to hold. the men stationed at Main Post said it was indeed a pleasure to ride those tightly packed busses, but we didn’t have any Wacs riding to Sand Hill. It was really a show to see the troops lined up at Howard Bus Company awaiting transportation back to camp.
Now to the field for a few weeks said Headquarters. We moved everything to the wide open spaces of Georgia for one month. By the way, Regiment had been broken into Battalion. Our Company was redesignated as Company “B” 23rd Armored Infantry Battalion. Each company in the Infantry battalions was enlarged with men being transferred from other units of the division, engineers, armored, etc. The strength of our Company was enlarged from one hundred seventy three to two hundred fifty-one men. These men included Hauer, Delturs, Boltz, Bacca (with his guitar), Underwood, Gilliam, Gleason, Foy, Devinson and dozens of others. With the addition of these men the anti-tank platoon was formed with the 57mm. as the main weapon. Although these men were new to us, they and all the others were a very genial group, and it didn’t take but a short while for them to become part of us. Lieutenant “on the ball” Dennis came to our company about this time and was supply officer.
That moving was always aggravating. Novinska always issued everything in the supply room to the fellows at this time, and, of course took it back up as soon as we had lugged it to the field and settled in our area. He was assisted by Gamble and Armbruster who could also assist him in talking. Most of the men griped every time they went to the supply room because if they got anything they had to have the strength and courage to argue down these three men. These men all did a fine job, though, and the griping done by the men was more or less routine of all soldiers. Roy Rasmussen was good in the supply; so was John Slawinski until he began to work in the gun shed.
While we were in the field we were sent two officers, the popular and well liked Robert Lemmon and Deehan. Conyers was promoted and got silver bars and transferred to Company “C”. We pulled several problems during our stay in the field. One I shall never forget was the time all of us got soaked soundly. I can see Britton right now walking around with Lloyd White’s raincoat thrown over his shoulders and waving those long hands at Mabb as he talked. You know he could never talk if he couldn’t use his hands. He and Major Johnson were some pair arguing.
Finally orders came to take us into our bivouac area. We built camp fires and
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dried our clothing. It was lots of fun sitting around our pup tents by the fires at night and telling jokes, lies and whatnot. Lots of us hung around Company Headquarters, and it was always fun listening to good old Pat Cherichella, Hobel and Duncan argue with Mabb. McCartney was always a favorite because he was the man who delivered the mail. I was the first mail man the company had, followed by Page, Chapman, McCartney and Barnes. It was always a pleasure to see the fellows receive mail from home, especially Jack Stern, who received a New York paper daily, Ochran, his Brownsville (Penn.) paper and Apprigliano and Hayes letters from their girls. Of course Owens was always around for mail and if he didn't receive any he would gripe lots, but we soon became accustomed to this.
Sewing kits were issued to us in the field and for a few days we had a period set aside for the purpose of repairing our badly worn fatigues. Mabb called this period the “old ladies sewing circle.” After some of the men had patched their clothes they looked like jig saw puzzles, but some of the men were pretty handy with needle and thread.
Van Holt Lewis was driver of our track and “Chow hound” Faber was squad leader. Lewis and Martin Harrill were always feuding (all in fun) Harrill certainly had a tough head because I’ve seen Lewis hurt his hand many times over Harrill’s “noggin”. Lewis always referred to Harrill as “Little devil.”

Passes were given us while in the field. I’m sure Guss Ferrara and “Baldy” Kelly will recall the time they played elevator boy in one of the hotels in Columbus, Georgia. It seemed as if the men had paid a prolonged visit to one of the bars, and after leaving they decided they had an urge to ride an elevator—anyway the manager of the hotel became exhausted in his futile attempt to catch them; they were always leaving as he appeared.
We all became quite a bunch of “chow hounds.” Harless, Coonrod, Stengel, Clay, Hardy, Boyle, Clifford. Meechum (homesick) and Haut assisted by Kuver, Wally and Ducasse stirred up some pretty good “goliash” when they could rake around and find enough left overs to throw in the pot. By this time we noticed that several of the new men were the biggest of “chow hounds.” Thomas, Barnett and Ferry could really put that “stuff” away. Faber always got a great kick from seeing Ferry eat.
Just before Christmas 1943 we had the pleasure of moving again. Yes, back to Fort Benning and Sand Hill. It wasn’t a bad spot at all—ask Glen Miller. Glen loved Phoenix City, or something. Of course he wasn’t the only one that liked the place. Marionchek did, too. Going back to camp suited the married men especially. We had lots of married men who were fortunate enough to find apartments or rooms in town and could spend the nights, and weekends with their wives and families. Boy, did those all night twenty-five mile road marches hurt those married men!

“Baldy” Hilbum, (barber) did quite a business shearing our “beans” while we were in camp. Arnold wasn’t a bad barber, either. We had a great big beer party one night. (Soft drinks for all men who didn’t drink beer.) Honestly those who drank the beer got soaked to the guilds that night. Company “B” looked plenty ragged the next morning at reveille.
There were several entertainment centers in Columbus, Georgia, and most of our men enjoyed dancing. I don’t ever remember being at the USO or other entertainment spots during a dance but what Cocco and Faber wasn’t there.
Nick names were popular. One entire squad was known by one name. Sergeant “Shorty” Tussey’s machine gun squad were all known as Badaluccio. This name was derived from an individual who was a member of our company awhile, and was said to have been a first class “gold brick.” This name certainly didn’t fit Tussey’s squad, but all got a great kick out of calling these men by that name. Martin Harrill wsa “Shrimp.” We had shrimp one evening and Martin took on too much beer and shrimp. I think perhaps the shrimp weren’t

16

fresh. Anyway Martin had to go to the hospital and the name shrimp hung to him from then on.
Several of the men were known as “Pop.” In most cases it applied to the older men except in the case of Floyd Gillespie. And of course all slick heads were known as “Baldy.” Myers, Hilburn, Mabb and several others were in this class. Delbrugge was called “Dell.” He had an unusual high pitched voice that could be heard above the entire squad. Murchison was “Red,” DeLio “Rock,” Misseldine “Tex,” Kincaid “Bud,” Sutter “Sut,” Shepherd “CP,” Faber was the first and official “chow hound,” Mathiason “Matt,” Gwidz “Gee-whiz,” Levinson “Levee,” Hodges “Doc,” Apprilliano “Happy,” and all the white heads were known as “cotton”. Of course Owens had a very special name for Hayes but we can’t use it in print.
Some of our men were dangerous and couldn’t help it. They were “goosey.” “Pop” Gillespie, Van H. Lewis, McCaffrey and others. If we were lined up for “chow” or any other unofficial formation and someone “goosed” either of these men, someone was on the receiving end of a sound wallop. Many times some of the fellows’ teeth have chattered when were unfortunate enough to be standing near or in reach of Van H. Lewis’ long arms when someone jabbed their finger at him.
Spiritual entertainment was not lacking in our outfit. The Chapel at Benning was near our area and each Sunday morning found Company “B” well represented in attendance. This was also true in the desert and at Camp Polk as well as in the field.

I always got a kick out of Horetzko. No matter what happened or where he was, if he was called suddenly he would have to visit the latrine first, and he wasn’t a “gold brick” either—he just couldn’t help it. Good old Horetzko—a swell fellow. I still have a book that he loaned me while in the California desert.
We froze out one overnight problem the ninth of December but were very glad to get back to camp. The weather was very nice and our morale was getting right for the holiday season. Things were going right and furloughs were started all over again with about seven percent of the men away at one time. Week-end passes were numerous.

A group of us found that we were not to be on any detail during the Christmas week-end so we decided to go home. Smith, Euratt, Obie T. Harold, Passmore and I pulled out. None of us bothered to get passes from the orderly room, but it so happened that I had a “few” blank passes in my pocket, so we just used them as Smith could write just like Dudley J. Everything went just fine except that Obie T. decided that Mount Airy, North Carolina was a better place than Fort Benning and he took an extended pass. For this he spent several days in the “clink.”
That Pontiac of Euratt’s was a great asset to Company “B” in one way. I made two trips home on week-end passes in it—started the third time—same group except Obie T., but wrecked. I sold it on the spot for two hundred dollars for Euratt. (Wish I had it now) The car also gave Ryan, Misseldine, Tussey, Passmore and Van Holt Lewis a chance to get out of town for the week-ends. Monday morning reveille always exposed those week-ends on all the men, because we were all usually a bunch of “sad sacks.”

Harless, Stengel, Clifford and the remainder of the faithful kitchen crew prepared a number one dinner for Christmas and several of the men brought their wives out for a real GI holiday feed.

After Christmas 1943 latrine rumors flew faster than ever. In fact you couldn’t hear yourself speak in the latrine for the continuous line or rumors that the war was going to end. Of course all of us realized that we were going overseas, but when and where from was what the “staff” couldn’t figure out. We usually ran down Richard T. Hall, our very efficient clerk, to check on the latest rumors, but very little
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information we could pry out of him.
The theatre was in our own yard and the only trouble we ever encountered in getting inside was sweating out the line. We had several “nice” inspections while at Benning. We also had to mark our clothing, practice throwing hand grenades, and what a great time we had crawling all over the yard on our bellies doing push-ups and indulging in several more seemingly kid games. We had to get physically able to fight this man’s war you know. Parts were still on the schedule and the rifles had to be cleaned every day. This was an excellent “gold brick” period which afforded us a chance to slip in the shower room and get ready for our regular trip to Columbus that night.
Lots of changes were made during the first month of the new year. Lieutenant Huaritz and Dennis were transferred. Lieutenant Freed joined us and Buddin drifted back to the outfit which pleased us. Twenty of the men spent a week at Camp Stewart, Georgia, at the Anti-aircraft school and didn’t like the place at all—missed the rest of the company.
Pay day was a great day. It gave the men an opportunity to go down the line and pay off their debts, and then they could continue right on down the line and borrow again until the next pay day. Of course the old table beside the barrack was always ready with a GI blanket stretched tightly over its top, and it didn’t take the “bones” long to get rolling. We had some good bone rollers in Arfi, Hugh Howard, “Rock” Johnson, “CP” Shepherd and Bernhardt. Good poker players weren’t hard to find either. “Tex” Misseldine and “Pop” Hughes were no slouch with the cards.

Good old Roy Phipps was a favorite in his squad. All the fellows enjoyed kidding Roy. He was known as “Myrt” to his buddies. Most of our men enjoyed going to town but there were a few who seemed most content to remain in camp during their off hours while the others were out making merry in town. Of course going to town was more or less a habit, but a good one, wasn’t it Koonce?
There was no doubt but what Taylor (Danville, Va.) didn’t find a home at Phoenix City. I know “Baldy” Kelly and “C” Kiger found a home at Columbus because they spent all their spare time there. Give Max Strumpf a pass and he was a happy man. Old Max never failed to have a wise crack to throw at you.

To hear Hess talk, he was never happy or well, but put his feet under the table at the mess hall and, next to Faber, he could devour more “goliash” than an entire squad. I enjoyed hearing Hess pass his opinion about the officers and non-coms of our outfit. From Company Commander on down to the second in command of a squad he held no love or good word for them. In fact I don’t believe he liked the army, do you, Misseldine? Misseldine got a great kick out of hearing Hess “pop off” as he was his squad leader for a spell, and of course Hess never did really mean everything he said, but he surely did let his opinions roll freely.

I often wondered who furnished Freeby and McCouvern with all those cigars. No man in the army made enough money to buy as many “ropes” as those tow smoked. Luezkiewicz, Speer and Philo had their share of cigars, too.
We didn’t have an opportunity to engage in many athletics, but horse shoe pitching was very popular as well as soccer. Golden Myers and the writer teamed up to make a fair team tossing the shoes. Myers threw a wicked shoe and so did Frank Ontl, Gilbert and Ochran. Ontl was also a good softball pitcher. Gratton Edwards, an ex-baseball pitcher heaved a few part time games for us. Porter and “Pop” Hughes enjoyed soccer. Some of the men did a little bowling. I think Glasser headed the bowling team.

Spring was rolling around and of course this meant a few night problems. We had to run a battalion fire power test to show the Corps Inspectors how good we were. Next came the “little” seven day field problem that started on the first of March and went through a dismal week. Lieutenant Deehan was transferred and Lieutenant Joe Whitman was assigned to us; Britton was promoted to the double bar
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class and POM inspection was getting in full swing. On the nineteenth of April censorship was placed on our mail—we knew what this meant.
The time to move rolled around again. I think we should have been named the transient Division. Same old story as before, turn in your bunks and mattress because we were headed north. Those barracks floors were certainly hard for a nights sleep. We had lots of fun, though. Tussey led off with an army song book and everyone joined in the singing. We sang “Roll out the barrel” especially for General Silvester; of course he didn’t hear us, but that didn’t differ to us. The PX was still operating and some of the men had a few beers under their belts and they added plenty of volume to the songfest.
On the hot afternoon of April twentieth we loaded on the old choochoo and almost two days later we stopped at Camp Myles Standish, Massachusetts. We almost froze in New England. The food was pretty good. The biggest excitement here was the typhus shots we had to take. Everything else was just about as dead as some of our arms felt. There were movies and lectures, and we played a little basketball. Lee was leader of the basketball lovers.
Lee and Passmore were good buddies, also Tussey and Passmore. All the men were buddies to each other but you would see soldiers in pairs and threes, such as Porter and me or Gleason, Hall and Koonce., Morris and Slawinski, Harrill and Purkey, Owens and Mac Lloyd, Apprigliano and DiLeo, Kelly and Kiger, Ryan and Misseldine, Glen Miller and Marionchek, Estep and “Cotton” Hughes, Fox and Eason, Bullock and Kincaid, Ochran and Marcu, Krug, Matern and Hassebrock, Cocco and Strezlec and Hodges and Darknell.

While we were at Standish several went on pass to Boston, Providence, Rhode Island, or smaller nearby places. Those mornings were really cold in Massachusetts. This was our first experience with double decker bunks, so we had to get accustomed to our neighbor climbing over us to hit the “sack.” And this was also the day when the “law” was to eat everything you took in your messkit and throw nothing away. I know most of the men would love to have shoved some of the food down the throat of whoever put out such an order.
Standish was by far the dullest place we were ever located, or it was to us, because our stay there was so short we never did get settled. You can bet if our outfit had hung around there long even Boston would have been aware of our presence, because we always made ourselves known wherever we spent any time. Even on our first trip to any town we let our presence be known, right, Leo?

Get ready for another move, Fellows! Where? Camp Shanks. We were told that our shipping orders had been cancelled. Hoo-rah, New York City! Oh man that was a long walk from the train to our barracks the night we unloaded at Shanks. They got the old ball rolling here and issued us passes faster than we could send home and get money to spend. There wasn’t a chance of borrowing money as most of the men were spending it as fast as they could buy a ticket to go some place.

I suppose most of our men got to go home from Shanks. Those week-ends in New York City were OK, and those nearby towns offered plenty of entertainment. Best of all there was a splendid hot dog stand near our area. At night Willie Howell, Foy or some of the men would grab a shoe box and make a bee line for the dog stand; when they returned we would eat like dogs until our bellies rolled and growled like puppies—go to bed, sleep like a log and get up the next morning and go on a twenty four hour pass. Oh Brother! We took so many passes while here that Van Holt Lewis nicknamed most of us “Pass.” Most everyone was in on the pass deal. The only time that we weren’t permitted passes at Shanks was when the Mump epidemic was on, however none of our men’s jaws were swollen and we were soon on the pass routine again.
It wasn’t any trouble to keep our clothes spic and span now. Taylor (Danville, Va.) got hold of an electric iron and he did a flourishing business. Old Taylor could
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throw a GI blanket on the floor and put a crease in a pair of OD’s so quickly that it would put a professional to shame. He was plenty sharp on pressing the blouse, too.
A few road marches were the order of the day here. They weren’t too bad as the scenery was very good and the weather fine in this part of the country at this time of the year. We had a very good athletic period and several good lectures from Lieutenants “Shorty” Freed, Lemmon, “Freckles” Buddin, McClure, “Navajo” Whiteman—they were all good “Joes.”
We had to take our final physical for overseas here. I know all will remember very well how we were examined—lined up and marched by the medical officer, (this was not our own Battalion medical officer) he gave you a quick glance, asked you a couple of questions and bang! Just like that! You were OK. That was a joke. Too, we had to practice unloading from a ship in case we had to hit the water on our planned trip across the pond. All the work here was a pleasure because of the variety of entertainment that was given us. I still laugh at Milton Berle’s antics he pulled as master of ceremony for one of the better shows that were staged for our enjoyment. There were some Wacs stationed here, but they didn’t worry us as New York City was close by. This was one time we didn’t outnumber the girls to such an extent.
All we had to do to get out of camp was to step through the gate and hit the old New York Central or a bus. In the case of the train we would ride to the 42nd street crossing, hop on the ferry, and just like that, we would step off in the big city.
We had a number of men in the Company from New York City, Brooklyn and Jersey, and being stationed so near home was indeed a pleasure for them. Apprigliano, Arfi, Brockman, Stern, Slawinski, Baeigal, Bogatz, Strumpf, Ferrara and others. There were a few fellows who lived near and had a bad habit of going home when the notion hit them and remaining as long as they liked. Of course they didn’t bother to tell anyone when and where they were going. In other words AWOL.

All good things come to an end and so was our stay at Shanks. We packed our duffle bags (essential things of course) rolled our blankets with a suit of underwear and socks in it so the roll looked like a horse collar around my neck, and boarded the train for New York City. There were two hundred and forty-five enlisted men and six officers. We had to carry our rifles and our musette bags fastened or hanging on us. We got off the train at Wehawken, New Jersey, and rode the ferry across the Hudson to the docks. Here we had to carry everything up several flights of steps and then down several to our “cabin” on the great Queen Mary. They told us not to drag our duffle bags, but it would have taken “all the kings horses and all the kings men” to have carried what stuff we had packed in those bags. It was a relief to get our place of abode on that ship. All this was taking place on the day that Europe was shaking from the effect of this great war on “D” day.
Early the next morning we left New York harbor to an unknown destination sailing on smooth water. This smooth water didn’t last always. The instructions they gave us to keep the old “bread pan” full were good; keep from getting sick, you know. Then they would feed us twice each day and sometimes on English kidney stew—you couldn’t even count the stomachs that were turned upside down. Brother, that sea sickness is a bad sickness. I recall one time I was on the deck and my entire stomach seemed to be coming up and going “over board,” someone asked me if I was weak. I told them I didn’t think I was so weak because I was throwing it as far as some of the larger men. One night one of the fellows had just lost his evening meal when someone asked if the moon was up. This man replied, “I don’t know, but if it had been in my stomach it would be up because everything else is.”
It was almost a death penalty to be caught without your life belt. Special orders were given us in regard to gambling on the ship. “There absolutely wound not be any gambling on this ship,” they said. Upon the deck you were lucky if you could
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[Page of four photographs]

Nicholas J. Hughes (“Pop”)
Fredrick J. Mabb, First Sergeant

TWO OF A KIND


Frank Ontl and James Duncan
Willard W. Owens (Willard)

[Page of two photographs]
Typical Louisiana maneuver rest scene. Cocco standing, Bullock sitting against tree, Euratt sitting on log, strumming guitar, Laughter lying on ground reading, and Heretzke with back to camera in the group of three.

Company “B” Crossing the Elbe River

get through the groups that were huddled up, shooting “crap” or playing poker. You could hear Leo Johnson, Bernhardt and others calling for “snake eyes” even above the sound of the mighty Atlantic waves. We kept up with the progress of the invasion through the BBC over the ship speaking system.

I think we were all thrilled when we awoke one morning and learned that the “old girl” had landed. There we stood on deck the thirteenth of June and looking in the distance at the bonny hills of Scotland. It was truly beautiful to see the little boats coming and going from the Queen Mary like a brood of baby chicks playing around their mother.
We docked in the Firth of Clyde at Greenock, the town could be seen plainly from the boat and for most of us it was the first time ever to see a town outside the good old U. S. A. A day or two later our Company unloaded and we boarded an English train. “Tweet-tweet,” remember those little cars? Red Cross girls served us doughnuts and coffee while we flirted with them—the same old bunch of wolves! There was just enough coffee to wet your tonsils but it was well flavored.
The trip on down into England was fine. We went through Glasgow, Edinburgh, Mansfield and other nice places. At most of the stops, Mansfield, New Castle and so on, we were given more coffee. Next came our permanent quarters at Tidworth, England, along with the “Piccadilly commandos,” bitters, bicycles, A. T. S. girls, Andover and Salisbury. Of course passes weren’t too free for awhile, but when they were given it didn’t take the outfit long to make the well known connections that we were noted for.

The days were very long and the nights unusually short. We were given an indoctrination course along with a training schedule as long as your arm and uniform regulations. Lots of the men bought bicycles. They were very useful. Those old double decker buses were too bad, especially when you were in a rush to get to town and would have to wait for another bus otherwise. I know none of us will forget the one commode for each large room of the barracks; we had to shave every day, too, and had to go to the bath house to do this. Several carried water from the one lavatory in the barracks and would shave on their bunks getting ready for the inspection. After inspection one man would carry as many rifles back to the gun shed as he could and the next day another one would carry them. This gave the beer “hounds” a quick chance at the bitters.

I still think of those “horse blankets” we slept under and the straw ticks we slept on. One thing we liked were the English newspapers. Money was so plentiful we just stacked up the “ha-pens” and thru-pins to buy newspapers with, and some fellow would go buy as many papers as he could get each morning if he was lucky enough to get near the newsman before he sold out.
Many times I, as well as others, slipped off to keep so many fellows from asking me to buy them a paper because my bicycle was usually loaded down anyway.

It was a lot of fun riding over to the Red Cross building and standing in line for a Coca-cola and just before you got to the counter they “sold out.” Going to the cinema was enjoyable of just killing time around the pubs and talking about the war or the girls back home. The men entertained themselves in about the same manner as they did back in the States except they fussed about the bitters, but I believe they drank just as much and got just as “tight.” It was really a show to see the regular “beer hounds” borrow their neighbors canteen cup in the evening and make for the pubs. I have seen them walk of pedal in with just as many cups as they could carry. There was a shortage of tumblers and the cups gave them a chance at more bitters. Often A. T. S. Girls would come with them if they were the first to see her.

Passes were given to Andover and Salisbury, and on one special occasion a limited few were given passes to London. The Chapel was always filled for morning service here. It was a very nice old English Army Chapel; had a pump organ, but I enjoyed playing it with Chaplain Cermak directing the music and doing the preaching.
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Lots of us attended nearby churches. I remember attending one church along with Bartolomucci and Koulos several times. These services were conducted by a Minister and his wife who lived in the same building as the church. Several English troops attended these services, and usually we were invited to an English home. We were instructed to carry our own sugar and tea when visiting in an English house due to the acute shortage of these articles. The army would furnish us with these articles when the passes were official.

Back to passes, Neff, “Red” was one fellow who got his share of passes while here, also Carroll, Hauer, Hughes, Dotson—well we all got our share. I believe Salisbury, England offered the best entertainment for us of any of the United Kingdom cities I can still hear those English “Tommies” crack their heels against the pavement as they walked by our barracks. It seemed as if you could hear them a mile.

Dances were given frequently at the Red Cross, but just as it was in the States, one girl for every ten or fifteen men, but they were really rushed, Brother, I mean rushed. Those English girls really took to the old jitterbug training that we hot footed Yanks dished out. I always thought Louis Fortunes was the smoothest dancer I ever saw on the floor. Fortunes was nice quiet fellow.

KP was pretty hard here. I am qualified to speak this as I pulled it enough. Next to me I don’t know who hated it more, Garvey or Silvestri. Conditions were not the same as back in the States and the conveniences weren’t so good. Barracks guard was by far the best “gold brick” detail that could be pulled here but it was mostly given to someone who was suffering a hangover or some other ailment. We had a few personal inspections. I remember some of the men’s beard was too long once and Dudley J. had to reprimand them.
The well known ration card was issued to us. I almost decided that standing in line at the PX was more trouble than it was worth, but we had to have our “fags” and peanuts, also shaving blades, etc. So I, as well as others, sweated it out.

We played more softball than ever. Near Tidworth were large open fields and on those long Sundays and evenings, we would group up and wheel or hike out to the fields. Ryan, Glasser, Ochran, Marcu, Gamble, Scott, Ontl, Caiola, Kermath and others played lots of ball on that old English clover.

Most every day we had to march (formation) beyond where the motor pool was located on the hill for lectures, bayonet practice or anything that was handly. Pare left—pare right—long thrust! Remember those commands. As a matter of fact, we “gold bricked” lots during these hours. When we were out like this you could always find groups from the same states together talking about the things back home, especially the North Carolina, Illinois, New York and the Michigan crowd.
Oh for those open plains of England! (That’s a joke.) Off to Salisbury plains we went, in pup tents we slept and on the plains we roamed and chased rabbits. No kidding fellow, do you remember all those “cotton tail?” You would have to keep on the alert or else one of those “suckers” would run over you. Several evenings after Harless and Company had “fooled” us we would play around and kill those rabbits with our helmets, rocks or anything we could get our hands on.  Joe Strezlec said was just like hunting back in Vermont, and although Kwitowski had never hunted rabbits in Chicago, he agreed it was most enjoyable. After Captain Inglin and his crew had examined the kill and found them to be OK we had rabbit on the menu.
Speaking of helmets, you could use them for more things “than Carter had cats.” You could take a complete (huh!) bath, boil water, use them for a seat or pillow, fight with them or if it became necessary use them as an old fashioned bed chamber.

Dudley J’s boys were all very hale and hearty except for a few cases of the old fashioned belly achie. It was hard to class Faber and Hess as the leading “chow
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hounds” now, because several of the men were running them a close second. “Baldy” Kelly could really hide that goliash, so could Newell and Oliveri. Alex Hattaway
 kept his bread basket filled pretty well, too.
The days spent on the plains weren’t too bad. The evenings were rather long and after we had come in and eaten, we would sit around (after we had cleaned our guns) and “gossip” with one another. Food was pretty good and the mail was right prompt. McCartney or Barnes always gave us good mail service. The worst part of our stay on the plains was the rainy weather. Fascbern
 and I were best buddies and he was really on the ball—kept everything just right. He was indeed a good soldier, and respected by all the men.
We didn’t stay at Tidworth too long after our return from the plains—long enough to take some close order drill from one another, make out statements—this kept Hall’s nose to the grindstone; also long enough to hear article of war 38 read, and hear General Patton speak. As usual we had to dress up, march in formation to the cricket field, and of course we had to hurry ourselves to death and wait for his appearance. Finally he arrived with all the class and form that go along with such an occasion, and after he had spoken we all realized that General Patton had really been there. “Sell your bicycles, boys, mark your clothes and get ready to beat the stuff out of the Nazis.” Not bad, or at least most of us didn’t mind it, so we made “suckers” from the next group of incoming soldiers as we had been, and sold them our bicycles for a few pounds more than we had paid for them. Stout
 refused to pull guard, several of the men got “tight” as a barrel; in fact we all went “long wild” because we realized that our days at Tidworth Barracks, Wiltshire, England were but a few.
Some of the men got an idea to throw an enlisted men’s party. I believe Willins
 and Hauer “ramroded” this. Lieutenants Buddin and Whiteman helped out and we put on a pretty good “shindig.” We were granted permission to use some army vehicles to head some A. T. S. girls in to add a little flavor to the party. I think every lane in Wiltshire was searched and still we were in need of girls. I didn’t stay around long, but all the men who wanted it, gulped in all the bitters they could hold. It was a little tough for some of the fellows the next morning, and as usual “Rock” Johnson was by far the most popular with the women present. Fellows, you will have to hand it to Leo; he had a way with the women when he was tanked. I remember so well seeing “Rock” walk away that night with a woman on either arm and a glass of bitters in his hands—his cap just about off. I will never forget that stride and way he walked.
I heard it said several times that Company “B” was just one big gang of wolves, but I know now that we have all settled down and grown out of that “wolfy” stage, or have you, Men? Oh Boy, but those were rugged days.

We packed our equipment and slept in the motor pool area the night before leaving Tidworth; loaded our vehicles and left for the English Channel the following day. We weren’t told where we were going but the “Lawyers” beat them to the draw this time and advised us that we would go to Southampton. The first night away we stopped at a marshalling area well camouflaged and departed early the next morning of August the eighth for the docks of Southampton.
We received two meals this day after standing in line for hours, and at last we loaded on the SS Phillip S. Thomas and set sail for France in a convoy of thirteen ships. There was quite a bit of excitement aboard the liberty ship. No one seemed blue but everyone was in the best spirit and with a high morale.
We didn’t get to unload that day, and that night while most of us were lying on the raft or in our vehicles that were on the raft, we saw in the distance the first sign of battle. Far ahead and in the darkness of the night we could see anti-aircraft fire and blazing bullets from planes.

I doubt if any of the men slept that night. The next day was a warm sunny
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still time. The sun rays were sparkling off the clear water of the channel and many of us pulled off our shoes and paddled our feet around in the cool water while rafters were moving in place to unload.
On French soil at last! We debarked and hit the mainland around four o’clock on the evening of August the eleventh. Indeed it was a funny feeling. For almost three years we had known that a day like this would approach and now it was a reality. We were now on the ground where men had fought and died—right through the area where killing was the word on “D” day. Those men who had fought and died were just as we were. Yes sir, this was strange ground. The outlook on life changed considerable as our eyes peered to the front over the terrain that would claim many an American soldier’s life. Wonder who it would be? Time—only time could tell.
PART II
With our backs to the beaches and our eyes to the front we moved forward to a grouping area eight miles from Utah Beach and bivouacked near Vesley, France. Our first night was spent in complete silence as well as most of the nights from this time on. The ones who weren’t standing guard attempted to get some sleep, but sleep seemed to be a total stranger here, because we learned that we were in an area that had been used by the Germans for bivouacking and there was a certain feeling of fear and hate that would keep any American soldier awake and on the alert.
The little gas stove that each vehicle carried proved to be fine to warm a little coffee on when the opportunity afforded. The coffee seemed to give you the extra something that was so badly needed when rest and relaxation wasn’t possible to get. Very early the next morning Mabb got the word around for us to load up and pull out, telling which platoon would lead off and then the platoon leader would decide which squad would go first.
All the roads had been used so much by heavy army equipment that they were worn badly, and the wind swept across the asphalt and right into the faces of the soldiers causing the skin to chap and become irritated. Lots of our men received medical treatment for this. It was a very uncomfortable feeling to have your face all chapped and then perspire while the heavy dust filled every irritated spot. This, along with a heavy growth of beard that most men had, caused much suffering, But as yet we hardly knew what suffering was.
We moved somewhat south in the general direction of Lessay and Avranches, and we were moving with a great determination—determination to fight and kill to preserve the freedom and liberties for ourselves and the loved ones left behind. Down the dust laden country we traveled with every soldier wondering what it was all about and what was going to happen next. The sun was sending those heated rays on us as the half tracks moved on over fields and roads. At first we saw very few French people and little sign of actual war, but as we moved forward through Coutance, St. Lurent and Louvigny the sight of wrecked buildings and a few roadside graves were full indication that the war had already taken its toll. The biggest proof of its toll was the first huge military cemetery that drew our attention. Hundreds of little white crosses stood as erect and as solemn as the men who had fallen and were now lying beneath the French sod. This truly made an impression on us.
Just when and where we would encounter the enemy was what all the men pondered in their minds. Soon, yes too soon it would happen. We had paused in an area near some woods on our second or third day for a short while and the squad leaders had put out security on all sides when the word reached us that an enemy force had been sighted near our area. Our blood pressure rose fast. We loaded on our vehicles and moved out very cautiously and in a short while hit some scattering resistance.

It was getting late in the evening and night caught us with little action. We continued to move most all night very slowly and the next morning we saw our first results of our moving operation. Some of our outfit had captured a group of fifteen
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or twenty prisoners as the result of some member of our kitchen crew being able to speak German, and after a few shots had been fired and a few words in German exchanged the enemy surrendered. They were terrible looking men. I think most of us could taken a pot shot at them because we felt as if men like these were the very reason for us being where we were then. They were dressed shabbily as soldiers and had very ill expressions. I suppose the human feeling returned to us and our attitude changed somewhat as they lined up with their hands above their heads, and we found they were a group that a main outfit had left behind as a harrassing force and had been without food for some time.
We had a soldier in our Company of German Descent, Max Kellner, who spoke fluent German language; he questioned the prisoners and found them to be in pretty bad shape physically, so they were sent on back and put in the “cage.” On and on we went through Evrons, Ballon, Bonnetable and into Courville.
We had received information that the enemy in strength weren’t too far ahead so all the men dug themselves a hole while the squad leaders were called together for a briefing. Britton had no more than started his briefing when a “whizz” came through the air into our area. Like rats we found our holes, then another whizz—still another! Not they were coming in fast as we buried our faces deeper into French soil.

The order came for us to mount our vehicles and move south into Chartres on the right flank and were told to expect contact with the enemy at any moment. Soon it began raining and most of us forgot our physical bodies and used our raincoats to cover our rifles. Down the rain came and down the road we sped. Our faces were smarting with irritations and our minds were smarting with dreadful thoughts as we rode on into what could be possible death for all. This was suspense! I’m sure every man must have sensed that grave danger lay ahead. We had expected to be in Chartres by this time as we were told to enter it from the south and that it would only require a few minutes, but on and on the column sped. The vehicles seemed to get faster and the rain beat down harder.
Suddenly, like thunder and lightning from the skies, came the roar of might guns; the screaming of bullets that sounded frightful as they flew over our heads. We dismounted quickly and hit the dirt on the right side of the vehicles. For what seemed like hours the bullets screamed through the trees, holding our bodies to the good old earth. Britton crawled back and had all squads that could be found reorganized. We moved by pairs to the opposite side of the road and prepared to move in on foot under the cover of darkness.
Our men’s nerves were tense and many of them couldn’t be located as darkness was overtaking us. On ahead several of the third platoon vehicles were going up in flames that were illuminating the heavens; this light was against us as we couldn’t advance toward the vehicles for fear of being seen. Of course, we realized that Men—our comrades, were burning with those vehicles as the smoke belched from them and the air carried the odor of gasoline and equipment. Everyone was quiet. We were afraid to speak even of what was happening ahead; we just held on to each other’s coat tail to keep from being separated in this dark and gloomy hour. The men that could be found moved ahead in single file through the woods to the edge of an open field.
Now we all stopped and sat down quietly. We were weary and tired. Some of the men were so tired that they would fall asleep and begin to snore while the man next to him would punch him because the sound of a man snoring could be heard for a great distance in the quietness of the night. We were afraid to make and fuss for right before our eyes were those burning vehicles and captured men, yes and dead men. Soon we moved our position and made the second attempt to move in, but less men could be found.

It was very dark and the men were disorganized. The group that was together
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piled up close to each other and tried to keep warm as our clothes were completely soaked. Morning came but not soon enough; what we learned at break of day made us sick—sick at heart. It seemed that fate had dealt us a terrific blow but had also acted as our protector and guardian by not allowing what men that were left to get reorganized the night before as we had attempted. We wanted more than anything to go in and save our buddies, but they couldn’t have been saved and it might have been the end of the two platoons that were exposed. As a matter of fact the third platoon was practically destroyed.
The force the enemy had assembled and the positions they were holding would have staved off hundreds of soldiers with the best of equipment. We had only one choice, and that was to get out of this place and to some assembly point if possible as we were surrounded on three sides. We left out through the one channel of escape but not the same group of comrades that had traveled this far together.
Sometime later we learned just what happened on that horrible evening of August 15, 1944. After we had loaded on our vehicles and turned on to a main highway headed to what we thought was Chartres, we were directed wrong and instead of going to Chartres we went almost in the opposite direction from this point toward Chateaudun. Our third platoon, leading the fast advancing column, ran headlong into several 88mm’s and small arms fire. Some of our men were burned in their vehicles and several wounded with a very few escaping uninjured.
The ones we never saw again were Sutton, Lemay, Lieutenant Lemmon, Haney, Jenkins, Hobel, DeSimone, Stern, McCartney and Sanford. There was one man who had no identification available and four more were burned beyond recognition. It was believed that three or four French soldiers were killed in this group also.

It wasn’t possible to get the correct information of all the men who were injured, but I have a partial list of them which I will give. Marcu, Leo Johnson, Haden Johnson, Hess, Lee, Oldham, Speer, Floyd Gillespie, Loren Hassebrock, Cherichella, Darknell, Rosas and Nicholson.
We were assured by the French Civil Authorities that our comrades who were killed were given burial with full religious rites; the service being conducted by the Maire (Mayor) of Marboue. Of course all the bodies have been moved to other places by this time for reburial.

Our bodies were dirty and tired and we were beaten up, but not for long because we were determined to catch and destroy the terrible enemy that had thrust its wicked hand out and in this dark and gloomy hour had taken the lives of so many American soldiers. We took a bath in a small stream near Courville in nature’s bathing suits with most of the population as onlookers.
After we had assembled to our area the next day Chaplain Cermak held a memorial service for our departed buddies in a little grove of woods near the edge of a large wheat field. I shall never forget the scripture he read, “23rd Psalm.” I saw more men at this service from Company “B” than I had ever seen attend any of our religious services. To attend this service was almost a “must,” but it didn’t have to be because we remembered those men and do until today for the part they did in helping to conquer a dreadful enemy and give us a chance at life.

Up ’till this time’ we had traveled through many towns from where we first bivouacked. Only the scars of battle greeted our peering eyes as we moved over the badly worn roads and the sun drenched fields and lanes. I will list some of the towns we were in or traveled through: Vesley, Marigny, Perfiers, St. Lauvent, Coutance, La Haye Pernal, Avaranches, Ducey, St. Lurent, St. George, Louvigny, Fougeres, Laval, Montsors, Evrons, Beaumont
, Bonnetable, La Ferte Bernard and Courville.
Now action came fast, events of Company “B” were making history and being recorded every minute. The nights were long and dreadful and in the distance could
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be seen the little villages and hamlets as they blazed with a mixture of allied and enemy fire. Sleeping at this stage was just one more precious thought and something that could be hoped for, as it had to be grabbed while riding along until you were told to dismount and move forward on your tired feet. We had already learned that the 30 caliber machine guns that were mounted on our vehicles were inadequate and they had been replaced with the bigger 50 caliber ones that were manned at all times.
About the seventeenth of August we were given the task of clearing the enemy from the center of Chartres which was the first major city we helped to liberate. From the large wheatfields to this beautiful cathedral city we moved as was our aim when the Germans halted our movement some two days earlier. Right through the main part of the city and on by the old Twelfth century cathedral with its spires reaching toward the Heavens we moved to take up our position. The main German force had left out leaving behind some two thousand stragglers in a helpless attempt to hold the city to hinder the progress of the fast moving American troops. I can almost hear Britton calling Mabb now. I thought his voice sounded so loud as we were lying on the banks of the little stream in the western part of the city the first night we were there, and I, as well as others, almost held my breath each time he would speak for fear that an enemy shot would land in the spot where the voice was heard.
In the evening of the next day our Company moved a short distance and took our position behind a large wall that extended from an orchard on top of a hill to a street down on the level of the city. The enemy had been driven into a big draw south of our position and had concentrated their forces for a “last stand.” Our artillery and mortar fire began showering on them and they had no choice rather than crawl out of the draw and get killed or remain there and suffer the consequences. They did both. Some crawled out South and were picked off at once by machine gun fire, others crawled toward us and were taken just as fast by riflemen while the ones in the hollow suffered the torture of our heavier weapons.
We had several Free French soldiers along with us which was a great help in many ways. After the battle had subsided somewhat we assembled on top of the hill and began to eat apples and exchange our thoughts and ideas concerning the war in general when suddenly a German machine gun started pumping hot lead into the area. This was quickly taken care of by some Free French who climbed on the nearby buildings and sighted a few Germans who had made good their escape out of the hollow and while we were sitting around taking it easy they reorganized and started another battle, however they were taken care of immediately, but they really made us scatter.

By midnight the same night the enemy had been driven to the outside of the city. We were relieved by another outfit and started on our way without the opportunity of taking along many of the articles that we had captured in the large garrison warehouse located there.

We moved from Chartres on toward Dreux as an advance guard with little action. As a matter of fact I think we took one lone prisoner. Next we moved from advance guard to rear guard of CCB heading for the Seine River. The river crossing was in the vicinity of Tilley, France. Parts of our outfit crossed without too much resistance, however it was no easy task as the artillery pounded the water and enemy mortar projectiles fell like hail stones all around. Immediately after our company had crossed the Seine we were pinned down tight in the woods with mortar fire.

We made little progress that night but early the next morning we moved forward and in a short while we were traveling on foot heading for Melun. There was lots of action as we neared the town and also inside the main part. A big portion of the city was still under control of the German. The biggest excitement I found here was when Captain Britton and I were locked in the city jail. French
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officials, who had just taken back over the city government, thought it was very funny when they locked us in, as they hadn’t had an opportunity for four years to exercise their authority, but we didn’t think it much of a joke. Of course it only took a matter of minutes for us to prove that we were Americans and they let us out and directed us into the main part of the city.

Cognac and champagne flowed freely as Melun was being liberated and our men lost no time in taking advantage of it as the weather was pretty warm in this part of August, and it seemed as if our men were always thirsty. Melun was where the large radio station, “Radio France” was located; this was the heart of the German propaganda machine that filled the country of France with the Nazi way of life, but the capture of it put a stop to this. We were showered with lovely flowers and the women and children were very affectionate. A house to house search was made for snipers which netted us a few along with eggs, apples and various things.
After leaving Melun we were placed in Battalion reserve, but for a short while, as all will remember that this being in reserved was a short lived thing in those days. We were heading in the general direction of Reims. Slight enemy forces were engaged with minor casualties and we captured around a dozen prisoners near the small town of Provins. We were “high tailing” it now; morale was high and we were being kissed by both men and women of every known description. It seemed as if the “babies” that we were being kissed by got bigger and prettier the further we advanced. Our next stop was Marne, where the “Heinies” had blown the bridge. This was in late August.
We carried our equipment and crossed the torn bridge on foot stepping from one foothold to another very carefully, after reaching the opposite side we climbed a long hill and dug in where we could observe for several miles down the river and easily spot any enemy that we were expecting to make an attempt at retaking the little town. The hill was completely covered with grapes and our men really made a “killing” of them until word reached us to not eat a grape as the enemy had sprayed them with poison. It was too late now as we all had partaken of them very freely, but I never learned of any bad after effects, so we attributed the whole thing to another “army rumor.”
In taking this town we captured a huge basement full of champagne and wine, and the results of our mission here was: no enemy encountered, but several soldiers “over loaded” with the drinks. Besides over loading their stomachs several over loaded their pockets, pant legs and any place they could stick a bottle and needless to say we had our job getting some of the fellows back across the wrecked bridge.
Flowers were plentiful in this part of France and our vehicles would be completely covered with them each time we would halt in any small village. The entire population would turn out to greet us when we made a stop. They usually came running with something in each hand, and most of the time it was something to drink—this pleased most of the men. They learned the value the American Soldier placed on a fresh egg and occasionally some of them would bring along a few to barter to the soldiers for cigarettes or chocolate bars, however we gave away lots of these articles, especially to the women and children. Many a smiling baby boy or girl dressed in rags was made happy by receiving a handout from an American soldier.
The average GI could barter with a man, but when it came to the women and children—well either of them could give him the right look or the right embrace and the bartering ended right then.

We were now seeing one of the prettier, or what had been, parts of France as we moved on to Chateau and Reims heading for the place that had been a battle ground for centuries, The City of Verdun. Captain Britton was wounded near here. Verdun was where the many hundred fur-lined jackets were captured by our division and the men wanted them so much, but the higher authority said we could not have
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them, however I did see a few that were “boot-legged.” We moved on to the less important place of Autry without too much resistance and near Germonville we stopped for a couple of days to allow gasoline and supplies to catch up with us. This afforded us an opportunity to clean up a bit. Arnold and Hilbun cut hair while the fellows used the five gallon cans for seats. Some of the men cut their own hair while some forgot hair and everything else and just rested, except the few who had to be stationed at various points as outpost guards.
On September the sixth we were assigned to a force mission to move into Metz. To get there we had several objectives to overcome, but the main objective was the well fortified city of Metz. We moved forward for some time and distance in vehicles and as darkness approached we moved on foot in single file leaving Koulos with some more men stationed behind at the main road as rear guard. Our mission now was to form a bridgehead across the Moselle River. Early the next morning the company dispersed and advanced toward Dornot. Enemy fire (small arm) opened on us and caught the men in a draw of a small forest. Buddin and some of his men stood in water up to their waist for a long time until they could withdraw. Huffman
 was killed by machine gun fire, Golden Myers, Buddin, Sewell, Hauer, English, Owens, Picou, Fred Anderson and others were wounded. “Pop” Garner proved himself a hero during this time by rescuing two wounded buddies from artillery fire.
Smith, (Walter G.) was wounded but helped to organize his squad before going back for medical treatment. Rain was beating down in our faces—we were tired and hungry but we moved on. The following day we suffered more casualties as we attempted to cross the bloody Moselle the second time. I raced from a point near the river to get transportation for Slawinski and Schreffler who were wounded while lying behind a small wheat shock; just as I reached the battalion aid station an 88mm. whizzed in and wrecked the building in which the aid station was located.
Oliveri
 was killed as we neared the river, Mac Lloyd, Ray Hayes, Kelly, Kellser, Gleason, Koulos, Frenchman, Wease, Kiedaisch, Cote, Wrhel, Hunt, Sutter, Mora and Oldham were injured along with others whose name I don’t have. We packed in small boats and used our rifle butts as paddles while crossing the river. I believe Henson
 was shot through the neck on the way across.
After reaching the other side we spread out quickly and advanced until we ran into some very heavy resistance that stopped us cold. A line of scrimmage was formed along with the Fifth Infantry Division Men and holes were dug fast and deep. Such a burst of fire we had never seen or known was showered on us. The sky was filled by day with our bombers in an attempt to locate enemy targets but they couldn’t be found. At night it was hell! The large trees were torn to shreds by the heavy artillery and so were our men. Hand grenades and bayonets were two chief weapons now and as the results men were falling fast on the right and left. Kalosky, Carroll and I were dug in near the bank of the river and “Shorty” Freed came and told us to round up all available men and go to another point on the main line of resistance left vacant by the men that were injured.
Our men were fighting side by side with the Fifth Division men, but were losing ground fast, practically all squad leaders were injured. The reports reaching headquarters were indeed serious. The third platoon lost all but eight men and the company’s strength had fallen from around two hundred thirty five men to about two hundred twelve in a very short space of time. The next night was even worse. The sky was full of enemy projectiles and the ground rumbled as our men were truly taking a beating from being in such a vulnerable spot with inadequate strength and fire power, and reserve strength was out of the question as the river was being shelled and reserve power couldn’t reach us.
Beside the wounded and killed several of our men were captured and I am going to quote what DiLeo wrote me in regard to his capture which may apply to the other prisoners. I quote: “I was captured September the eighth at the Moselle
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River. I was at Stalag XII A, Limburg, Germany, and from there to Kustrin, Stalag III C. It was there that the Russians liberated us February 1, 1945—from there we hitchhiked through Poland into Russia, took a boat from Russia to Turkey and then to Italy and Home.”
I can only think how bad this Moselle River affair was as I haven’t words to express it. Too, I am only telling what I saw or relating incidents of first hand information. Foy and Underwood were killed near each other just minutes after they had come to me and remarked about my hole not being deep enough. We were without drinking water and I gave Philo a sip the evening before he was killed that night. To my immediate right lay McCaffrey and an unidentified soldier, both killed by a “potato masher” grenade. Little Joe Gallegos was injured seriously and died later of the wounds. Horetzko, Dale, White, Cocco, James Jones, Eason, Mastokas, Strezlec, Kalosky and Poore were injured. Pensone was killed, so was Driver, Collins, High and Nordgaard. Driver, Collins and High were recent replacements, Driver having been with the company for about ten days. Our Battalion Commander, Colonel Leslie Allison, was seriously injured during this affair and died later. I recall “Pop” Hughes, Colonel Allison and I dividing some rations just a short while before Colonel was wounded.

Our men crawled from their holes and fought with the greatest of valor and teamed with the Fifth Infantry men in an effort to save themselves and their buddies. One of our Men, “Red” Neff, and a group of the Fifth’s men accounted for nine enemy before Neff was wounded by a mortar shell and later hit on the hand by particles of a grenade. “Red” and the men with him went running like “mad” through the woods as they rushed the enemy’s position, as he came in contact with one “Red” was struck across the chest, but quick work with the trigger finger dropped the enemy and the other men finished him.

Our medics were doing a great job and at all times under the most adverse conditions. Those litter bearers and first aid men who followed our men in battle were certainly our buddies. Too much credit and praise can’t be given those men for their untiring efforts in the relief of the wounded. Captain Howard Inglin, a Springfield, Ohio, physician headed our Battalion medics. I don’t suppose any one individual outside of our company was more popular or well liked than the genial Captain Inglin.
Finally word reached us that we were to withdraw—throw away our equipment and swim for our lives. This was the only chance of escape. A very small boat was being taken to and from across the stream but with so many men waiting to get out you hardly had a chance at the boat as it was very risky grouping up. Some of the men who hit the water failed to make it as it was too much for their tired bodies to endure. Of course I was like the other men, I felt very bad when I laid down my M-I. Although a fellow had lots of buddies, I felt as if I was giving up my last one when I placed it gently to the ground and prayed that no enemy would get hands on it and kill some American Soldier. All the men will remember how their names (or what they were called) were printed on the butt of their rifle in small yellow letters.
I was fortunate enough to be dragged out of the river by an unknown party. The last I remember was strangling when I grabbed a rope that was attached to a huge balloon and later pulled to safety by some soldier and led to the company assembly area sometime after midnight. I found a sad group of men with morale very low as Mabb grabbed me and embraced me while I cried like a baby. We were all emotional. I didn’t have dry clothing and several of the men loaned me various garments the next day after they had packed me in a bed roll during the night to warm my body. Most all reports had come in by this time and our casualty list was appalling.

We moved into a bivouac area southwest of Gorze for two days. Buddies
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looked for one another—their hearts were saddened when they learned that some of the men they were looking for were not listed among the living. Most everyone attended a special Religious Service held during this time. Hundreds of our large bombers passed over daily in route to bomb the enemy. This made us feel good and spiked our morale to a great extent. As usual, an army rumor was started—that the war would end on the fifteenth of September, and this was around the twelfth. So badly did we want to see the end of this dreadful affair that we even placed hope in an army rumor.

We wrote letters, smoked, ate some K’s, C’s and any other type of rations that we could get our rugged hands on. New equipment was issues and our morale started rising. The supply trucks were traveling the “Red Ball” highway at a fast pace to reach us with the much needed supplies. We had licked our wounds for the time being.
The thoughts of having to cross the Moselle still plagued us, but on September the thirteenth we were put with Force 2 and ordered to cross the river by bridge. Right after we crossed our company was smothered with heavy artillery fire and rain came down in torrents. We had moved to a bivouack area on a big hillside and the vehicles could hardly maneuver for slipping down hill in the heavy mud. Our men were placed in groups of threes and used as guards for the tank destroyers. Artillery fire became so fierce that some of the men were forced to leave their position and get under the TD’s for protection, and even in this case flying shrapnel caught some. Carroll was wounded very badly lying under a TD.
On the morning of September the fifteenth we were ordered to move out on foot on a combat mission just south of Array through a wooded area. We could hardly travel for the heavy rain beating us in the face and some of us didn’t have raincoats and our under clothes were soaked. We moved through the woods to a road and up the side of the road in single file. Soon we were spotted and artillery started falling like hail stones. Artillery chased us as we ran like deers back in the direction of the Moselle river, but it caught very few as I remember. Estep, Bogatz and Wikes were wounded.
Faber was far to the front and he took refuge in a culvert under the road. He said several Germans passed over him while he almost held his breath. I can’t recall ever running so hard and fast as we scattered like birds when that artillery started falling around us.
Hitler’s boys continued to shell us heavy and our morale was on a serious decline but this didn’t stop old Company “B” as we left out again almost chilled to the bone. One small village we passed through as we footed it out again was as near desolate as any place that I have ever seen. I don’t recall the name, but all the living things I saw was one goad and two chickens. Of course the buildings were shattered as the results of our heavy artillery in destroying a huge German tank and other enemy weapons that were concealed in the buildings.
After traveling and lying in rain all day we thought we were sure of getting to bed down a few moments in Cote de Faye. This town was under heavy artillery fire and lots of buildings were wrecked, but all platoons had found refuge in some buildings where they could keep contact with others. We had just about time to think how nice it would be to spend one night under shelter when we were called out again. Most of us pulled off our shoes and wrung the water from our socks and moved on with a low morale and an empty stomach. Our mission for the night was to support the 48th Armored Infantry Battalion at Corny that was under heavy artillery fire. We were put on outpost duty on the right side of the town.
Snipers and machine gun fire kept us down in the stinking mud all night. The third platoon had moved in across the road and suffered a few injuries while getting in position. Hilbun was injured when a mortar shell exploded against a stone wall and the shrapnel hit him in the leg or foot. Mortar fire held the third platoon down
31

all night. Early the next morning we went back to our original vehicle area and were placed in battalion reserve. The population of Corny swarmed out of the village church that morning as they had taken refuge there believing it wouldn’t be destroyed.
We were supporting the 48th yet and moved on toward Bouxieres Sous Froidmont and heading for Metz; this was the nineteenth of September. Our mission here was to march on stream crossing. We were told to hold the high ground above all, and we dug holes while mortar and artillery fell around us all day. By this time our physical condition and morale was serious. For three or four days we held our position under great difficulty as low morale, combat exhaustion and injuries took a heavy toll.
On the twenty-second of September several of the men were sent back for some rest while the remaining ones prepared for the worst. The heavy artillery and mortar firing continued both day and night; dud after dud fell all around us. Most of the men were short on smokes and still shorter on food. The big tanks that had gone in as our support had moved out since they were exposed so readily and it felt pretty lonesome when you peeped from your hole and could see those huge re-enforced cement “pill boxes” scattered far and wide.
Some of our company had moved ahead in a somewhat different direction toward Longville and became surrounded there, and the next few days several of our men were wounded. Morris was wounded when his vehicle became mired in the mud, Dahmer was wounded on his way into Longville and Riddle and Hobbs were also wounded about this same time. Finally a certain kind of relief came as the company assembled in bivouac area at Lachausse, France, and told that they were to move to a new location.
So on the twenty-fifth of September morale jumped up fast as the men mounted their vehicles and moved out for the new destination. The weather was much cooler and fair. Autumn could be seen appearing as the outfit rode for several days. This made a change in all the men. Everyone seemed to be feeling better as they rode on through Belgium still heading north. All the men were just hoping that the element of time would be their protector and the war would end by the time they arrived to the new location.

On the last of September the company arrived at Deurne, Holland, where they were to fight with the British Second Army in support of the break-through in the Arnheim sector and in support of the supply line through the Eindhoven area. Company “B’s” action, along with the remainder of the division helped stop the 9th Panzer and the 15th Panzer Grenadier Division cold when they attempted to cut through the supply line. Holland was somewhat as we had thought. The country was full of small canals and large windmills were still revolving at the will of the wind as they had done for years.
The company completed their first mission in a move to Boxmeer, Holland, on the last day of September, and then they were assigned to help drive the enemy from Sambeek. The heavy artillery and the “screaming meemies” were terrible here. We were traveling along with the tanks but they were halted when the lead tank was knocked out by a mine, so the men advanced up the ditch beside the road. Pretty soon they were sighted and enemy artillery let loose on them injuring Silvestri and some others whose names I didn’t get. The company failed to come in close contact with the enemy until they moved to the east of the town. From here they moved to Mullen with very little resistance. Those nights were cold as October was ushered in.
At Overloon, Holland the company was a part of a holding force and assisted in breaking a counter attack. We had injuries here from small arm, mortar and artillery and the morale of the men was only fair. Walker was shot in the back by a sniper, Douglas Johnson was shot through the arm and Hillman was killed while
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on patrol duty. Perrung, a replacement was injured, Cooksey, Fischer and Paxton were killed, and Willie Shepherd was wounded seriously when he, Garner and Zoltowski were assisting a medic with some wounded men. The outfit moved back to Deurne to a bivouac area on October the seventh and remained there for several days.
The company CP was set up in the home of a Dutch civilian who was very friendly to us. A British Halifax had been shot down near this home in early September and this family had buried the bodies of the flyers and each day they would put fresh flowers on the small white crosses of the graves.
The weather was fair but the nights were extremely cool. I rejoined the outfit about this time from the hospital where I had spent about three weeks and was very glad to see the remaining buddies again. Van Holt Lewis and some of the men had “snagged” some chickens some place, and knowing my fondness for fried chicken, prepared a supper fit for a king. The company had reorganized right much and we had several replacements for the men we had lost. We prepared for a canal crossing at Deurne while remaining in this area for several days.
On the middle of October we moved out to form a bridgehead at the canal near midnight under heavy machine gun fire. Fair weather was giving away to the clouds and the rain began to pour. We suffered our losses during our advances as we penetrated the swamps and waded the little canals until we all felt like drowned rats. We dug holes in the swamps and laid in the water most of the night. The next day the heavy artillery and small arm fire was worse than ever. I had just spoken to Faber on my right when he was killed instantly. I saw him fall and we crawled from this position and as I passed him he lay still in death. Faber was a good soldier and well liked. This same thing happened to others, but I related this incident as I was an eye witness and Faber and I had been together and were special buddies. Harril was wounded in the face; Wagoner, Laughter and the writer were carried back to the field hospital that night.
On across the canal the company went and right into more heavy artillery and machine gun fire. Those white shells poured in fast. The entire area was covered with anti-personnel mines and several men were lost as the results of these. “Red” Murchinson was wounded by shrapnel, so were Barber and Binecki. Lester Stewart and Sosinski were killed in this area.
Two days after the company had crossed the canal and had moved forward some two miles, they had captured over fifty prisoners and were fighting with a great fury that killed many of the enemy.
There was little action for the next few days. Outpost duty was performed and Knox was killed by a sniper on the 19th of October. Knox was one of the company’s original men and a very dependable soldier. Two days later Butler was killed. One week later the company was committed and moved a short ways east of Lissel, Holland, on the way to Weert, and in two days operation killed around one hundred and fifty enemy with machine gun fire and captured two dozen prisoners. This was the area where the Germans made the big counter attack around Meijel, Holland. Sergeant Edmond Porter was personally responsible for several prisoners and the destruction of two machine gun emplacements. Koonce also fought a one man’s war for a short while in this vicinity. His squad was cut off from communication and his own position was charged by three Germans who threw hand grenades at him, he hit the ground and after they had exploded Koonce charged the Germans and killed one and wounded the other two. He then held his position until he was relieved some twelve hours later.
On the twenty-ninth the company was near Laal, Holland, and undergoing heavy artillery and mortar fire; they were given the mission of occupying an important area in the vicinity of Laal and we lost several men as they moved in to take their positions. One squad, led by Billy Castle, had moved successfully to their positions under the protection of artillery, but before they could dig in a barrage of artillery
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from the enemy fell in their area and Castle was killed instantly. Ambrozy was injured fatally, Pistella was injured seriously and died a few moments later in the arms of a comrade. Funkhouser was killed by a mortar shell.
There wasn’t lots of action in the early part of November, however on the seventh Charles Wallace was killed. On the tenth of November, the Company moved to Ekkelrods, Holland, for a rest period. “O happy day!” This was a much needed and deserved rest. Sometime was spent in training replacements and we became a part of the US Ninth Army, and were attached as army reserve. A company party was given and this gave the men a chance to talk things over. Lieutenant Robert “Pat” Hinchey joined the company during the month of November.
Discipline wasn’t too good due to mental and physical strain that the men had undergone for some time. Freed had been made captain and was in charge of the company temporarily and when he spoke at the part he said “we do not have very good discipline here, but combat discipline is excellent. We have yet to retreat or withdraw in force in “B” Company in local attacks.”

The company remained at Ekkelrods for a good while and the weather was rainy most of the time but they continued to train in mud over their shoes. Captain Britton returned from the hospital and took the company over again. A few days later they moved from Ekkelrods into Germany and did holding duty in the Hurtgen Forest area. This was on the Ninth Army front about ten miles inside Germany. The bivouac area was inside a recent battle field and the area hadn’t been policed up and the odor and surroundings were very unpleasant with lots of dead soldiers lying around, both ours and the enemy’s. Captain Britton had a bulldozer to push dirt over them as the sight of the dead men was bad for replacements, and it was bad for old soldiers also. About the only thing the company could do was to sit tight and listen to the German artillery scream over. They would send air bursts one after the other and during one of these heavy barrages Lamont was hit and died instantly.
There was no big action during the early part of December. One of our Non-Coms, Frank Aprigliano was commissioned a second Lieutenant in a special ceremony attended by the men of the company in a bomb shattered building on the seventh of the month, and they moved on a little deeper inside Germany.
On the seventeenth of December the company was located in the area of Setterich, Germany, preparing to take a nearby town when an order came for them to move out at once to an unknown destination. The vehicles were loaded as soon as possible and the company, along with other units, was on it’s way to what later became the biggest battle of Europe. It wasn’t until late the following evening
 that the company was told to prepare for action while on the move. A short halt was made for gas and then they moved on in and joined the US 1st Army at Rodt, Belgium late that evening.
As our outfit moved in they met so many men and equipment moving to the rear that it looked like a major retreat. The company reached the vicinity of St. Vith, Belgium, just at dark and were told to take their position north of the town. Taking this position up was a very difficult thing as the Germans were throwing plenty of “screaming meemies” in. The following day the CP moved to Petit Thier, and contacted some enemy. There were less than fifty enlisted men and only one officer in this group. The only thing this group could do was to organize a defense and remain, and in two days, their supplies began to run very low.
In the meantime the major portion of the company were told to hold the position that they had taken up for three days—they held on for five days.

A war within itself was being fought now. “The Battle of The Bulge” and the great Ardennes Forest campaign was one of the bloodiest and hard fought series of World War II. I am sure that there isn’t a soldier who was in the ETO at this time that will ever forget that Christmas. Company “B” was in there fighting
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with all the vigor and spirit that any well organized outfit could.
The position that our men had taken was around two thousand yards northeast
 of St. Vith, and the coverage was over three thousand yards. They dug in the frozen ground while being shelled. The enemy (full strength of three Nazi Divisions) advanced down a draw on the right flank and at the same time penetrated the left flank. (They hit command group, but fire power glanced them off to the right flank.) Our men were in a serious condition physically and were now forced to rotate from fox hole to CP in order to get dry socks to prevent frozen feet.
The drive on the right flank completely cut off the first and second platoons that were holding there and forced the remainder of the company to withdraw toward St. Vith. Another attempt was made to hold but again the men were forced to withdraw as a mighty barrage was loosed on them. Finally Kenneth Jones’ platoon, the last one that had a chance of escape, was told to retreat in the direction of St. Vith as some others had done. All equipment that could be used was loaded on the trucks and headed back while the men that weren’t trapped came through on foot. Although they had to give up their position it wasn’t any sign that our men were letting up. The truth was that they never had a chance under the conditions that were existing at that time.
The last time Company Headquarters had any contact with the first and second platoon that were cut off was by radio. The ‘phone system had been knocked out and they were forced to resort to radio communication. Sergeant Edmond Porter was the operator and he told headquarters that the enemy was closing in on them. The men were almost cut off from radio communication, but after a long while Porter contacted Britton advising him about the enemy being so close in on them. Captain assured him he would give all help possible.
Captain had called for a long time in an attempt to contact the surrounded men and it looked as if his attempts were all in vain, when suddenly above the roar of the mighty guns he heard Porter say, “I can hear you, Dudley.” Then Britton told Porter that he (Porter) and the men were cut off, but they (Britton) had withdrawn some 400 yards. Captain began to call for artillery fire and told Porter if he got it he would have it directed on the Germans that were in the draw on the left flank. He also instructed Porter to make a dash for his (Britton’s) position just after the barrage was over from the artillery he had hoped to get. A star shell was to be fired when the barrage was over as a signal. Porter heard the instructions plainly and assured Captain that they would beat it for his position when they saw the signal.
The artillery that Britton had hoped so much for was impossible to get. He tried on another channel but none was available at the time. He then called the Colonel in an attempt to organize a counter attack but the Germans had attacked furiously on the left flank and all available personnel were sent to that sector, but everything had been forced back again. It was now apparent that the two platoons were cut off and surrounded completely and there was nothing at hand to prevent their capture or destruction. They were now at the mercy of the enemy.
I will relate to you Edmond Porter’s account of the capture of our men at St. Vith. “On December twenty-second, eighty of the men were captured by the Germans at St. Vith, Belgium. They surredered at the command of a Lieutenant Colonel. All were searched and everything of any value, keepsakes were taken from them. The men were marched to a German town where they were place in one large room of a factory. By this time other prisoners had joined this group until the number confined were twelve hundred and the room was crowded. There was no heat nor any conveniences.
“For three days the men had nothing to eat. After that each received a small pretzel or something of that kind three times a day. Dysentery broke out and conditions became very bad as there were no sanitary facilities and no medical aid.
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Many of the boys died of this disease and terrible surroundings.
“The men were aware of Christmas Day when it came around and in spite of the fact that they were depressed in spirit, they sang together “Silent Night,” and “It Came Upon The Midnight Clear,” but the Germans ordered them to stop. The Germans were middle age men and were very cruel and would bayonet a soldier if he didn’t do instantly what was told him. The men saw some of their comrades killed in this way and their bodies thrown outside the building where they would have to step over them on their way out of the room.
“For eighteen days they remained in this prison, then they were marched to another, conditions in both were about the same. The only comfort that came to them were the Red Cross prisoners of war packages. The Germans kept many of the packages for themselves and the others had to be divided among the men. This little amount of food undoubtedly saved the lives of many GI’s.
“The end of captivity came for several thousand prisoners at Moosburg, Germany when General Patton’s Third Army turned its artillery loose and fired charges over the town for three hours. At last the firing stopped and about twenty-five planes from the American Air Force swept over the camp and tipped their wings at the men. The ground troops marched in, the German flag lowered and OLD GLORY raised in it’s place and waved proudly.”

Not all of Company “B” men were kept together during their POW experience but were divided at various places. At first they were taken to Geraldstein, Germany, where they were used as labor battalions of about one month. Most of them were taken to Limburg and remained there for three days and then transferred to Himmelberg. This was the prison in which General Patton’s son-in-law was injured during an attempt to liberate the prisoners by a group of 20th Armored Men in late March 1945. Zoltowski and two buddies escaped as the prisoners were evacuating Limburg.
The prisoners were loaded on box cars to move from Limburg and in a short while the train stopped alongside an ammunition train that was side-tracked. Our planes were, as described by some of the men, blowing the ammunition trains “into hell.” German anti-aircraft guns opened on the planes causing the planes to come lower and strafe the trains, as the air force didn’t know that the trains were loaded with POW’s. Several men in one of the cars were killed. A group of our men were in the one next to it and they broke out quickly and jerked off clothing and made a POW sign, and of course the planes didn’t bother them. Pennington and some other men escaped during the excitement, too. The others were forced to march to Nurenberg and there to Mooseberg where they were liberated by the Third Army.
I have had several of the men to give me an account of their experiences as a prisoner of war. Here are Tussey’s own words: “The damn Germans almost finished me, being a POW is worse than the front lines.”

Armbruster said most of his time as a prisoner was spent walking. The longest march, he said, was from a small town in Czechoslovakia to Hildesheim, northwest of Berlin, where he and his group were liberated. His account of the physical hardship this was on the men may well apply to many, or all others. Armbruster weighed 150 pounds when captured and ninety-five when liberated. He further stated that there was an average of three or four prisoners dying daily as the results of the treatment.
Some of our men were liberated from a camp at Werdau, Germany, April 16, 1945, and some were freed by the Russians from a camp near Dresden, May 9, 1945.

Many of the men suffered diphtheria and frozen feet while a POW, and in many cases were not treated for these ailments, even the most acute cases. Despite all these hardships the men were undergoing they never lost faith in the belief that they would be freed. Ray Hayes, in speaking of his experiences, said that many an

36

American soldier owed their life to the faith they kept.

We have an account of some of the men being killed while they were POW. Hopkins was killed at Geraldstein a few days after being captured, and Leonard Brink was killed near Monreal, Germany, March 26, 1945. Berhnardt was wounded also at Geraldstein. Not all our men were captured without injuries. Counterman was wounded and captured the same day, and he along with some other men escaped during an air raid in one of the towns. The men traveled for several days and took food any place they could find it, but finally the German Home Guard captured them.
Laurence Pate was wounded the night before the big capture on December 22, Fuls was injured and Fred Anderson and Bossier were killed, and Hoffman was wounded before being captured.

I suppose lots of the men were wondering what the situation was and where the reserve power that was needed so badly was at the time the enemy was overtaking them in “The Bulge,” but the company, or the two platoons who were surrounded and cut off from any help that might have attempted to reach them. Captain Britton was in there pitching and doing his very best. I think this can best be described by his own words, and the proof of his valiancy and hard work can be shown in the words of eye witness accounts. I am indebted to Hall for this information.
Here are Captain Britton’s own words: “After the Captain of “A” Company
 was killed, I took over part of the company and used the third platoon on my right flank where they (the Germans) got through, but with no artillery we could not stop them. I tried to reorganize as we pulled back, I got everything I could, but they were too much for us. We had no support—about half of a company against three divisions of infantry. I am sure that Foust and Patterson got it as they tried to get the tracks out and away from the CP. It was the third vehicle they had knocked or bazooked out from under them. Foust was trying to get the track away when they fired a bazooka into it. It exploded and there was a hell of a fire. Orlowski evacuated most of the tracks and kept them from getting captured. He really saved our vehicles.” (Note: When these remarks were made by Captain Britton he didn’t know just what had happened to the men, he was telling what he saw last as he was sure Foust and Patterson were in the vehicle that was bazooked. Foust was reported missing in action and after one year the War Department declared him dead. Patterson was very lucky and escaped but he was taken a prisoner).
Here are the comments of Lieutenant Tanner concerning Captain Britton. (Lt. Tanner was motor officer at this time). “Captain Britton was the one who saved us. Communications were bad, but I could hear Captain calling for artillery over the radio in the thick of the battle. His track and CP was bazooked from under him, Britton grabbed his radio in one hand and a .45 in the other and rushed out the burning door; he bumped into three Germans, he shot all three of them and went on calling for more artillery and fire over his radio. He certainly gave plenty of information and had there been artillery around to fire on the Germans we might have held.”
Comments from an “A” Company track: “Captain Britton came up and told us we’d better get the hell out of there. We jumped in the track and left. The Germans fired at us from fifty yards, they missed. The Captain saved our lives.”

All the time that Von Rundstedt’s “winter offensive” was taking place the weather was bitterly cold. St. Vith was an important railway and communication city for the Germans on their proposed route back to the port of Antwerp, and to take it was a “must” for them. More snow had fallen and the weather conditions became worse. Needless to say that the morale of the men was at a low ebb. The day before Christmas the CP group that had been out of contact with the company rejoined them at Hamoir, Belgium. What was left of the company left out and contacted the enemy at St. Antione, Belgium, but were too weak and the enemy drove
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right through our lines as we suffered more casualties that added to our somewhat stricken condition.
Christmas day found the company at Tri-le-Cheslaing, Belgium. What a way to spend Christmas! It was certainly a white Christmas, but anything except a pleasant one. How good it would have been if “Peace on Earth Good Will To Men” could have been observed now, but the men could only think of this. American artillery was plentiful in most of the sectors the day following Christmas as our Company moved to a new position just south of Tri-le-Sheslaing. It was still cold and bitter, and in places the snow had drifted to depths of several feet. Frozen feet bothered lots of the men as cold numb hands and bodies held on with a hope but a very low morale.
On the last of December the Company was relieved by the Seventy-fifth Infantry and moved to Hamoir for reorganization. Our strength was now less than two hundred men; quite a contrast in the number as of the day we stepped on French soil. Many of this number were replacements, but they had the spirit and determination of veterans.

They remained in the area of Hamoir for ten or twelve days, temporarily the outfit was out of the fighting of “The Bulge,” but the horror of it still filled the minds of the men as they thought of the comrades that had fallen at the hands of the Germans and the many prisoners that were at the enemy’s mercy. Morale was only fair as everyone wondered about the welfare of the remaining part of the “family.” There wasn’t too much activity as the men recuperated somewhat from the deathly ordeal they had undergone.

The next move was to Hocaki, Belgium, to await orders. On January nineteenth of the new year the outfit left Hocaki and moved to Boussaire. The weather was at it’s worst, seemingly. The men left here in a blinding snow storm on their way back to St. Vith, and this time to take it. Near Deidenberg, Belgium, small arms and artillery fire was very fierce as we had several men killed; also some attached men wounded and killed. Both sides were fighting hard and with the fury of cats and dogs. Our men were making use of anything white as a camouflage to blend with the snow. The enemy had begun to retreat but were still strong on all sides.
On the twentieth as our men were advancing back toward St. Vith, a concentrated fire attack halted them. Van Holt Lewis was leading one platoon and the heavy enemy fire stopped his men’s movement momentarily, he continued to move on despite the fire, and although he was wounded he led his men on in and broke up the enemy stronghold. Abernathy was also wounded the same time. Some two days later on the same mission Faloria was injured while riding a tank. While he was being taken care of by a medic, a mortor shell landed near them and killed both men.
 Hass was killed the same day and Lynch wounded.
Britton and Mabb moved the company into a wooded area southeast of St. Vith, and they dug in the frozen ground around midnight. The reason for taking the company here was because this was the area that the two platoons had to abandon on the twenty-second of December and they thought perhaps some of the men’s bodies might be found that were killed, but no trace of the platoons or bodies were found. This was somewhat of a relief because it gave them the feeling that most of the men were alive at least. This area was right in the midst of the discoveries of GI’s that were captured of killed by the advancing enemy.
Back on the move again. The company moved from the area near St. Vith, to the town of Wallerode, Belgium, and late in the afternoon the town was taken. Sergeant Higginbotham distinguished himself while this town was falling to us. The enemy forces were dug in behind the hedgerows and halted our advance; Higginbothem picked up a light machine gun, charged their position and loosed deadly assault fire on them, giving our men the initiative to move on. Later in the evening
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he braved death to rescue a comrade. We did suffer our losses during this time. Lieutenant Clay was killed during the siege of Wallerode. Mopping up continued and in two days over seventy prisoners were taken.
For three more day the company remained in a holding position. There was right much artillery and small arms fire and we suffered more casualties as Bartolomucci was wounded by a land mine causing the loss of his left hand and also injured in the face. Fox was shot in the left chest by a machine gun and Oettches was wounded in the leg. The following day Walker was killed and the next day Estep was killed after he had jumped off a tank to assist some wounded man.
An airborne unit relieved the company on the twenty-ninth of January and they left for a billeting area at Henri-Chapelle, Belgium, which ended the “Battle of the Bulge” for “B” Company.
No one could or would ever be at Henri-Chapelle and not think of the many American Soldiers buried there. The cemetery is located at the top of a big hill that surrounds the entire country side in eastern Belgium across a big valley from the German frontier. I will give to you some excerpts from Richard T. Hall’s description of the place. “In all Europe that I saw, no one place could more completely serve as a memorial for our dead than Henri-Chapelle.” He adds, “Some places were more spectacular, but none more serene—across the valley from Henri-Chapelle one could the towering firs of the Ardennes, and way, way beyond, when the vale of mist lifted ever so little, one could almost see the majestic Alps, a bastion for this place of death. The winds came swinging out of the valley, swishing the mist against the hills around, and somehow dispelling them to reveal the crosses and Star on the hill above. The sun would shine on the hill, and thousands of spring flowers (it was spring when Hall wrote this) burst forth to turn the place of tragedy into a place of peace.”
The company remained at Henri-Chapelle for one week. After going through with what they had in the “Bulge” and knowing that the Germans had been stopped, and even driven back at a fast pace, many thought the war would soon end and perhaps they wouldn’t have to be committed again. But the war still went on and the company traveled some twenty miles to Rott, Germany and relieved the Seventy-eighth Division.

The company remained around Rott from their arrival on the fourth of February until the twelfth in a defensive area. Some heavy artillery, mortar and small arms fire encountered and they found the area heavily mined and booby trapped. Perrung was fatally wounded during this stay, and on the seventh the shelling ceased. The next few days were spent repairing roads.
On the twelfth of February some of the men returned to Henri-Chapelle. Over one hundred of the men stayed behind and continued on the road detail until the middle of the month. At this time the drivers and vehicles were returned to Henri-Chapelle, as they weren’t returned on the twelfth as part of the company. Working on the road was a little new to some of the men, but it was better than fighting; too, most of the men had worked on the grounds back at Polk and Benning and after going through with what most of them had, they probably could do most anything by this time.
Back to the old army way of doing things now, as the company was on a training schedule, also preparing weapons and getting ready for an inspection of quarters. Some of the men were still on the road detail while the others remained at Henri-Chapelle. On the last of the month the company was relieved of the road work.

In early March the company left to go to Konzen, Germany. It was only around twenty-five miles but as the road conditions weren’t too good it required several hours to make the trip. They remained her until the seventh of March. The next move took them to Geisch, Germany, about thirty miles away. The cloudy weather had broken and the sky was clear again.
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Another day another move; this time to Bungsdorf, about fifty miles away, as a holding force until the following day of March ninth when they were moved again to Bad Godesburg as a holding force. This was a famous resort town in prewar days. The company dug in on the west bank of the Rhine River under frequent artillery fire. This position was held until noon of the next day when they were moved into an area with the battalion at Overwinter.
On the nineteenth of March the enemy air force threatened weakly at Overwinter. The place the company was assisting in holding was just about three hundred yards down the Rhine, or north of the company’s position and the same distance from where the Raemagen Bridge head was that the US Ninth Army crossed the river.
The company remained in this same position, generally, until the twentieth of March when they moved to Berkum, Germany, to form a motorized patrol. On the twenty-third of March Company “B” crossed the Rhine around 10:25 p. m. and arrived at a new bivouac area near Hahen, Germany, and remained there until the twenty-fifth of the month. No enemy activity was encountered, morale was high, but everyone was in suspense believing the terrible war would end just any time as hundreds of prisoners were being taken each day. Some days later the company joined the 17th Tank Battalion and moved to Ehscheid, and the next day they moved on to Oberzeuzheim, Germany. On the twenty-seventh they went to Dorlar. From Dorlar the company mounted tanks and left for a new objective. Now the fighting spirit was really in the men. Everything was ready for the drive into the heart of the Reich—they felt as victory was “in the bag” as they rode the tanks for Heuehelheim.

Town after town was being taken and too much resistance wasn’t being offered. The platoons would alternate the lead and once on the twenty-seventy when Koulos’ platoon was in the lead they entered a little area where the white flags were flying, but some German shot a bazooka at the tank and killed Koulos instantly, also Lieutenant Bramley.
 Goldberg, Herman, Tremonti and Sculley were also killed in the same area. Despite the losses Company “B” moved on and the following day Clyde Barnes was killed and Jendrzejewski was seriously wounded and died about one week later. Otto Moore was wounded the next day by a mortar shell.
On the last day of March the company left Dainrode, Germany, and arrived at Geismar, where they formed a defense position and held the place for two days. This was in the vicinity of the huge Edersee Dam. Changing of position was so frequent the men couldn’t even learn the place where they were last. The next place was Medebach, where they also set up a defensive position and got ready to make a “jump off” attack on Glindfeld the next morning, and by noon everything was under control; however one of the tanks that was supporting them was knocked out by a mine.
From here they started on the move again but heavy resistance between Kustelberg and Groneback, and many casualties, slowed down the movement. This was where the company hit the east side of the Rhur Pocket. Captain Britton was injured slightly here; Seeney, Douglas Johnson and Paszkowski were killed in this area on the fourth of April and Wolf was injured. Finally the opposition was knocked out and the company moved to Niedersfeld, where a strong enemy task force was encountered and we lost another one of our men, Goebel, who was killed on the fifth. The enemy seemed to realize that they were on their last leg and they were giving us all the opposition they could muster. Their villages were aflame as the results of our constant firing of hot lead. Their roads were lined with their dead and wrecked equipment, and no place was left unsearched for opposition—woods, fields or buildings.
Now to Assinghausen where the resistance was tough. It was here that Sergeant Walter G. Smith, “Smitty” who taken over the platoon when the leader was wounded at the Rhine River crossing, led the attack against the woods where
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[PHOTOGRAPH]

“IN THE MOHAVE DESERT, SUMMER 1943”

Kneeling on the ground, Claude R. Estep; immediately behind him is Martin Harrill; from left to right, standing is Roscoe Gilbert, Van H. Lewis and Ovid Passmore; seated on hood of truck is Drextal Purkey; Morse W. Gamble with cigarette in mouth; William S. Koules
 under flag, and William E. Jones.

[PHOTOGRAPH]

“TIME OUT, PLEASE!”

George Pellar, Ted Orlowski, Lt. Robert “Pat” Hinchey, Robert Catts

[PHOTOGRAPH]

A reunion scene snapped at 7th Armored Division reunion in Pittsburgh, Pa., September 26, 1948. Front row—Left to right: Ludwig Cocco, John Marcu, William E. Jones; Back row: Ted Heretzke, Richard T. Hall, and Weadier Caiola.

[PHOTOGRAPH]

MESS HALL SCENE

Standing with hands on hips is Owens, and Koules looking around at him; Three facing camera from left to right are Dahmer, “Pop” Gillespie and Caiola; Backs to camera and heads turned are Ray Hayes and Kalosky. right foreground is Glen Miller and Guffey.

the enemy were well entrenched. Machine gun fire was heavy, but “Smitty” would concentrate full fire power of his platoon on the guns and silence them. The number of enemy killed was not counted—they were numerous, but they captured approximately fifty prisoners, nine machine guns, three anti-tanks and one SP gun.
They didn’t stop at this, but “Smitty” led his platoon on into town and engaged the enemy in heavy combat all night. His offensive tactics, along with that the men under him, was instrumental in the capture of the town the next morning.
“Smitty’s” leadership was praised by all This along with the splendid work that he had done all through his activity in the war won him a field commission.

On April the seventh the company arrived in Winkhausen, Germany, to bivouac area, and the following day they left to outpost the town of Gleidorf, but after arriving there they were given the task of taking the town of Ebbinghof and the high ground that lay east of the place. The mission was started just before dark and they made quick work of it by capturing it at midnight. This was in the vicinity of Kassel, Germany. Owens was one we have record of as being wounded here.
On the ninth of April the company left from Arpe, Germany, with a primary mission of taking Berghausen; this was completed by early noon, and they jumped right off on a secondary mission of taking Kukelheim, and this was captured before darkness. They ended up at Sieperting.

“Surely this thing can’t last much longer.” This was the thoughts of all the men as they rode deeper inside Germany and seeing the enemy fall on all sides in vast numbers—group after group surrendering and enemy war equipment piled bumper to bumper on both sides of the roads that had been destroyed by a superior force.

On the thirteenth of April the company took the lead position as they left out of Binolen
 and started a drive toward Balen, Germany. Little progress was made on this mission as enemy resistance slowed down the movement. It just happened to be Friday the thirteenth and it seemed that it was a most unlucky day for Company “B”. Sewell was injured which caused the loss of his left leg, Hollis Porter was killed; so was Canavan, Casto and Nile. Hodges and Koonce were among the others wounded. Early the next morning the company arrived at Brockhausen and were told to take and hold a strip on the left of town. The enemy artillery was heavy, but the company moved right on in and accomplished their mission in the early evening, and then moved into the town of Sundwig, Germany, and established guard.
On the fifteenth of April the 90th Division relieved the company of guard detail leaving them with no other activity, but on the sixteenth they went to Gottingen, Germany, to the division assembly area where they remained until the nineteenth.

And of all things, on the nineteenth the company and joined the battalion at Rosdorf for—what? You guessed it—training. The entire day was spent in maintenance of vehicles, care and cleaning of weapons and clothing, and—money, pay day! And some mail! Rotation furloughs had started and Britton and Mabb had left on theirs leaving the Company in charge of Palhamus and Kenneth Jones and Hauer as First Sergeant.
The next week was spent in the same area training and maintenance of equipment and catching up with correspondence, and on the twenty-ninth the company was alerted to move from Rosdorf and go to the division assembly area. Spring rains had begun to pour and mud was plentiful. A company CP was established and billets for the enlisted men were found. This was quite a trip—one hundred and thirty-eight miles from Rosdorf. The rain continued to beat down as road patrols were maintained all during the night.
On the second of May the company gathered at CCA assembly area near Eschede, Germany, but stayed here just a few hours and proceeded to division assembly point. They traveled on and crossed the Elbe River at seven in the evening arriving at Zuhr,
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Germany, around midnight. The next day the company left Zuhr to join task force “Wimple” and march into Klutz.
 After the company arrived at Klutz around dark they were put to work. The first platoon started searching houses for prisoners of war, the second was ordered to outpost the town of Elmenhorst, third had to outpost Hohenschonberg, and the fourth had to establish a road block in Klutz. The company had traveled over three hundred miles in four days and now it was a relief to stay off the vehicles awhile. We were now with the British Second Army again; the division being a part of the US XVII Airborne Corps
 helping to cut off the one hundred thousand Germans that were retreating westward from the Russians.
On the fourth of May the company joined task force “Rhea” at Grevesmuhlen, Germany, to guard prisoners of war camp and remained here several days. As far as most of the men were concerned they would be content to guard prisoners the remainder of the war.
On the eve of May eighth the company held a formation at the prisoner of war at which Lieutenant Colonel Rhea, Battalion Commander, presented and pinned gold bars on a newly commissioned member of the company, Walter G. Smith. This event came as a surprise to “Smitty,” and everyone was glad to see him receive it.

The company continued guarding prisoners at Grevesmuhlen, which was located north of Berlin near Rostock, Germany, and not far from the Baltic Sea, until the thirteenth of the month when they moved to Boltenhagen to the Seventh Armored Division Rest Camp. All the men were thinking of what their fate would be. Although the war was over in Europe, there was still a great strife in the southwest Pacific and it was pretty hard to think that they might be sent to the other theatre of war as much as they had undergone in the ETO, but such was war and their fate rested in the hands of the war department.
Since the company was in a rest camp the fellows were sure they could have time to write, rehash their experiences, or at least some, but no—back to rookie days—close order drill and maintenance of vehicles. Several of the men had been promoted to squad leaders who were previous drivers, and although they were not taught the finer points of close order drill they sure had “been through the mill” when the finer points of combat had been handed out, but some thought since these men were not top notch drill masters they should be relieved of their rank, however they kept their stripes.

Even with the work the men had to do they still found a little time to chat with one another about the jigsaw puzzle life they had lived while in the ETO. Several incidents brought about good laughs such as the one about “half pint: Steegmiller being in an unusually “jovial” manner one night and he was driving Dudley J. down a street in a little blacked out Belgium town; the going seemed very rough and both men almost bounced out of the vehicle several time when they discovered they were riding on a bombed sidewalk instead of the street, and the jeep doing all any jeep could do, but it really didn’t make a great deal of difference to Steegmiller at this time anyway.

Then there were all those breath-taking incidents that it would take years to recall that happened to most all the men, but Duncan will never forget those three vehicles that were shot out from under him during his combat career. Then there was the time that “C” Kiger lost the seat of his pants near the Moselle River but no skin was lost on this deal. The writer still has the only pair of OD’s that he hit France with, and the hole in the seat is still there where he snagged them when he jumped from the top of a large steel picket gate in Chartres, France, in his successful attempt to get away from a sniper that was firing at him. The hole didn’t bother much except on those cold wet nights.
Lieutenant Colonel Rhea visited the rest camp one day and pinned Silver bars on young Lieutenant Bradley. These silver bars were well deserved and all the men
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were glad to see the well-liked Bradley receive them. The rest camp was located at a Nazi air base and there were several German planes there in good condition. Our men lost no time in looking those planes over. On about the twenty-first the company moved to Sommenstedt, Germany, about one hundred and sixty-five miles from the rest camp. The next day they moved to Eilenberg, near Leipzig.
Everybody, or most of the men, wanted to get out of the army, so the point system was much discussed (and cussed) topic these days. On all sides men could be seen counting points on fingers, figuring it out on paper, or arguing with the other men concerning the value of their points. On June twenty-first the company had a big beer party. The 23rd Battalion swing band dished out the music for the occasion and everyone had a rip-roaring good time.
There was quite a lot of activity these days. Company “B” was leading the softball league with five wins and one loss, some baseball was being played, and about the only actual work that was being done was the guard detail. The 23rd Battalion had its own newspaper, “Wolf Call,” and Company “B’s” news was well taken care of by Corporal Nost.
There were various types of entertainment afforded the men. Jack Benny and his crew entertained one evening with a swell show, and movies were a regular thing. The men were entertaining and being entertained in almost any fashion. Meecham turned to watch tinkering and barbering. The German Fraus were in some cases very attractive and very popular, and of course lots of our men learned the German language (certain phrases) right away which was a great asset to the individuals who sponsored fraternization programs of their own.
On June twenty-fifth our company took part in the battalion parade at Eilenberg which was a very nice affair. A greater part of our men were replacements. Several of our men had left the outfit and gone with the Second Armored Division into Berlin. The men with over seventy-five points were sent to the Fifth Armored Division to some home, among them was Sergeant Hauer. There was much activity among the men especially those going home or on pass—money borrowing, etc. Tragedy also hit us, during the trading and showing off of souvenirs, one man Eckert, a medic was accidentally shot.
One more big movie was scheduled. The American forces were ordered to evacuate this zone by early July, and the move took the outfit from Eilenberg, which now was in the Russian zone, to Oberwittstadt, Germany, down in Bavaria in the American Zone.

Each time any of the men would leave camp to start home the other fellows wondered when their time would come. Patience weren’t too good these days but passes helped the cause some as the fellows went far and near on passes and short furloughs. Several of the men visited Henri-Chapelle and went to the graves of our dead comrades. Griping about the food was a common thing these days, but Harless couldn’t serve it if he didn’t have it.
Summer was coming to an end—the men realized this—they wanted to get home. About the first of September 1945 plans began to mature. The long wished-for trip home was coming to a head, and on or about the tenth or twelfth of September they bid Ballenberg, Germany, good-bye. With Captain Edward Pawlowic, from the 12th Armored Division as Company Commander and John H. Becker, from the same division as First Sergeant, the company made their first big step homeward and stopped in Lucky Strike Camp at the port city of La Havre, France.

On the first of October they loaded on the E. B. Alexander and said good-bye to Europe—not only to Europe but to hundreds of buddies that were left behind that could never return. Through months, yes and even years of struggle, and now the eyes of the more fortunate ones were looking homeward. On the tenth of October our men sighted good old America.

From New York to Camp Kilmer, N. J.—last move in the US Army for Company
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“B”. Here the men were sent North, South, East and West to their respective states and discharged from military service.
Thus ends the story of Company “B” 23rd Armored Infantry Battalion. Our moves were plenty, work was hard and life was rugged, but we can still look back over those days with a great deal of pride, knowing that we as individuals, had a part in preserving the liberty, freedom and the perfect right for men to live on—and on.

ABOUT THE MEN OF COMPANY B 23RD, A. I. B.
Listed below are the names and other information about the Men who were members of Company B 23rd A. I. B. In some cases where there is no information given, it is because those individuals couldn’t be contacted. I wrote every man to the last address that I had available and eight or ten letters were returned, but at least two attempts were made to contact and get information from each man through various channels. There were some who failed to answer and a few of the men’s names were not available.
From the standpoint of awards I am only listing the outstanding ones, as most of the men received the others, and, if any of the men received any outstanding awards that aren’t listed it is because they did not give me the information.

In the case of deceased men; I wrote to their families and secured the information concerning them. And, for the benefit of the families of our deceased comrades, and the families’ request, I would like to ask any of the fellows who knew these men—maybe a special friend or in same squad—to write or contact the Parents or next of kin who are listed in the information.

Abernathy, Glen W., 208 S. Virginia Street, Farmville, Va.—Married—Two children—Drug Clerk—Injured January 29, 1945—Purple Heart—American Legion.

Abbott, C. R, No information.

Ackers, Olin B., Route No. 2, Du Bois, Pennsylvania.

Adames, Blane J., Minneola, Kansas.

Ambrozy, Anthony, (KIA October 29, 1944 in Holland), Buried Henri Chapelle, Belgium No. 1 (M) Mrs. Catherine Ambrozy, Box 2, Marblehead, Ohio.

Anderson, Kenneth, Route No. 4, Ponca City, Okla., POW, captured December 22, 1944.
Anderson, Fred (KIA December 22, 1944), Buried February 26, 1945, U. S. Military Cemetery No. 1 Foy, Belgium. First wounded September 7, 1944. Plans are made to return his body to U. S. (W) Mrs. Lucille Anderson, 428 Rosewood Avenue, Aurora, Illinois.

Aprigliano, Frank, 1941 Geritzen Avenue, Brooklyn, N. Y. Married—Two children—Employed by Government in Customs department. Commissioned 2nd Lt. on field December 7, 1944—Purple Heart with Cluster—Bronze Star—American Legion.
Arfl, Joseph S., 1351 Rosedale Avenue, Bronx 60, N. Y. Single—Ship Fumigator.

Armbruster, Daniel C., 1031 Franklin Avenue, Kent, Ohio. Married—Employed as fish management agent division of conservation and natural resources State of Ohio. POW, captured December 22, 1944—Purple Heart with Cluster—Bronze Star—Silver Star.
Arnold, Daniel A., Kinmundy, Illinois—Single—Barber—Purple Heart.

Asmer, A. J., Discharged 1944.

Austin, Harry E., RFD No. 1, Clayville, N. Y. Married—Two children—Paper maker.

Baeigal, Joseph P., 35 Grace Street, Binghampton, N. Y. Single—Shoe maker—American Legion.

Bailey, John, No information.
Barber, William, 26½  Ryman Street, Luzerne, Pa. Married—Eight children—Miner—Purple Heart—American Legion.

Barnes, James L., Route No. 3, Gardendale, Ala. Single—Mechanic at Armour
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and Company—Bronze Star.
Barnes, Clyde W., (KIA, March 28, 1945) Buried April 1945 Margraten, Holland No 1 (F) Mr. A. W. Barnes, Hayesville, N. C.
Barnett, Arreatus J. (KIA
) Buried January 1945, Henri Chapelle Mil. Cem. No. 1 (M) Mrs. Clementine Barnett, RFD No. 1, Linton, Ind.
Barnett, John T., 202 N. Jackson Street, W. Frankfort, Illinois.
Barnett, Max E., 87 La Salle Place, Louisville, Kentucky.

Barnhill, O. K., No information.

Bartolomucci, William S., 3520 Central Avenue, Shadyside, Ohio. Married—Two children—Messenger Wheeling Steel Corporation—Wounded by land mine January 25, 1945—Purple Heart, American Legion—VFW—Commander Disabled American Vets.

Bateman, Rowdy, Transferred to another outfit.
Bauer, Richard W., 345 E. Main Street, Lancaster, Pa. Married—Five children—VFW.
Beckmon, Ronald, 408 E. 6th Street, Anaconda, Mont. Married—One child—Pipe fitter.

Becker, John (1st Sgt, after Sgt. Hauer returned to U. S.) Sables Fork, N. Y.

Bernhardt, Elwood J., Route No. 4, Edwardsville, Ill. Married—Expectant father. Operating Service Station. POW, captured December 22, 1944—Wounded while a POW at Geraldstein December 26, 1944.

Biniecki, Leo B., 67 Mohr Avenue, Buffalo, N. Y. Single—Landlord—Wounded near Deurne, Holland, October 17, 1944—Purple Heart with Clusters.

Bogatz, David, 55 Atkins Avenue, Brooklyn, N. Y. Married—One daughter—Manufacturing metal cabinets—Wounded September 15, 1944—Purple Heart.

Boland, Jug “Chief”, No information.

Boliek, W. C., No information.

Bolz, C. E., Transferred to another outfit 1943.

Bombard, Dale M., Loyal, Wisconsin, Married—Owns and operates farm.

Bonin, Michael, Transferred to another outfit in 1943.

Bossier, Herbert W., (KIA December 22, 1944), Buried in U. S. Military Cemetery Foy, Belgium—Will be transferred to Henri-Chapelle—One son, (W) Mrs. Anna Bossier, General Delivery, Converse, La.

Bowers, Neil, Discharged from North Camp Polk, La., winter of 1943.
Boyle, John E., No information.

Bradley, William C., (Company Officer), Howard Place, Madison, Wisconsin. Married—Student at University of Wisconsin preparing to be geologist—Silver Star—7th Armored Div. Association.

Bramley, Warren J. (KIA March 27, 1945), Company Officer. Joined Company in Rhur Pocket—Came from Company “C” 23rd A. I. B.
Brigman, J. D., No information.

Brink, Lenord O., (KIA March 26, 1945, near Monreal, Germany while a POW). Evidence of death was revealed May, 1945. He was buried near Monreal and later reburied with full military rites at U.S. Mil. Cem. Stronberg, Germany. Later he was transferred to St. Avold, France. (M) Mrs. Bethel Brink, RFD No. 1, Tustin, Mich.
Britton, Dudley J., Home address Turley, Okla. Present address: Captain Dudley J. Britton, 640 Main Street, Anderson, Ind. At present he is instructor in National Guard for State of Indiana. He entered military service as a private in 1935, serving first with Company “C” 20th Inf., Ft. Frances Warren, Wyoming. In 1937 he transferred to the Philippines and served in Co. “I” 31st Inf. In 1939 he came back to the U. S. and re-enlisted in Co. “F” 6th Inf. at Jefferson Barracks, Mo. He went to Ft. Benning, Ga., in 1940, where he served in Co “B” 41st Arm’d Inf Regt., 2nd Arm’d. Div. In 1941 he attended the First, Armored Force Officers Candidate School, Ft. Knox, Ky., where he received a Commission as 2nd Lt. Inf. He was discharged as Staff Sgt. to accept the commission as 2nd Lt. From here he went to Camp Polk, La. Headquarters
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Co., 36th Arm’d Inf. Regt. as Platoon leader in 1941 and 1942, and in the Reconnaissance Co., 703 Tank Destroyer Bn. In 1942 he was one of the original cadre to activate 48th Arm’d. Inf. Regt., 7th Arm’d. Div., as Rcn. Platoon leader and Company Commander in 1942 and ’43. After the division’s re-organization in 1943 he went to Co “B” 23rd Arm’d. Inf. Bn. as Co. Commander and remained as Co. Commander of “B” Co. during 1943, ‘44 and ‘45, serving overseas in England, France, Holland, Belgian “Bulge” and in Germany as Company Commander and Task Force Commander.
After returning to U. S. he was assigned to the 24th Inf. Training Regt., Camp Maxey, Texas. He was ordered to Tulsa, Okla., in 1945 to activate the U. S. Army Recruiting Office. On August 31 1946 Captain was sent to Manila, where he served as Provost Marshall and Company Commander and returned to U. S. Feb., 13, 1949 with his wife whom he had married in his home town before going to Manila. Captain and Mrs. Britton are now living in Anderson, Indiana.
He hold the Silver Star, Bronze Star, Purple Heart with three Clusters for four times wounded. The Chateau Thierry medal given by the French, and the Army Commendation Ribbon.

Brockman, Henry, 2815 34th Street, Astoria, Long Island, N. Y.

Bryant, R. D., No information.

Buddin, Cecil E., 3505 Bellingham Road, Columbia, S. C. Married—One child—Salesman, Columbia Office Supply Company. Wounded near Moselle River Sept. 1944. Came back to U. S. and was promoted to Captain. Discharged Sept. 1945. Went back to Army Hospital and released with Captain rating, retired.

Bullock, Clyde C., P. O. Box 1316, Monroe, La. Married—Discharged from service 1945, re-entered service with 2nd Arm’d. Div. Served sometime in Alaska. Floor finisher—Bronze Star.

Butler, James D., (DOW October 21, 1944), (DOW October 21, 1944), Buried October, 1944 U. S. Mil. Cem. No. 1, Audilly, France. (W) Mrs. Hazel M. Butler, 1237 Shelly Street, Bristol, Tenn.
Butts, Walter H., Sharpsburg, Md. Married—Three children—Employed in shoe factory—Wounded in Holland October 17, 1944—Purple Heart.
Caiola, Weader A., 18 Nordham Drive, Bedford, Ohio.

Campbell, R. R., No information.

Canavan, Francis X., (KIA April 13, 1945), Buried Margraten, Holland, later removed to U. S. and buried in Arlington, Va., December 1949. (M) Mrs. Margaret Canavan, 204 S. Washington Street, Baltimore, Maryland.

Carbhon, James K., 36 Division Street, Lee Park, Wilkes Barre, Pa.

Carlisle, C. E., Transferred.
Carlson, Lyn, Company Commander from winter 1942 until late summer 1943.

Carroll, James W., Seriously wounded near Moselle River after second crossing. Married—One child.

Carter, Theodore N., 1143 Scofield Dr., Glendale, Calif. Single—Gunsmith and mechanic. POW, captured December 22, 1944—Purple Heart.

Castle, Billy H., (KIA October 29, 1944), Buried November 7, 1944, Henri Chapelle No. 1. One daughter born two months after his death. Castle was a musician before entering military service and had appeared in several RKO and Paramount pictures in 1939, ’40 and ’41. His remains have been returned to U. S. and buried in Arlington National Cemetery November 14, 1947. (M) Mrs. Lala Castle, 2062 Chariton, Los Angeles, Calif.
Casto, Stanley E., (KIA Germany April 13, 1945), Buried U. S. Military Cemetery Margraten, Holland. Later body was returned to U. S. and reburied January 9, 1949, Vinton Memorial Park, Vinton, Ohio. One daughter, Jeanie Casto, Rosemary, Ohio, Route No. 3.

Cermak, Rev. John, (Protestant Chaplain of Battalion) 320 Morrison Ave., Bangor, Mich. Pastor of Simpson Methodist Church, Bangor, Mich. Married—Two children.
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Cherichella, Patrick J. Jr., 241 Devoe, Brooklyn, N. Y. Wounded in neck near Chateaudun, France, August 15, 1944.
Cholewka, B. F., No information.
Clay, Henry C., Route No. 4, Cullman, Ala. POW, captured December 22, 1944.
Clay, Wilton G., (KIA at Wallerode, Holland, January, 1945). Company Officer. Buried Henri Chapelle No. 1. Joined Company last of December, 1944.
Clifford, Leroy C., 22 Summit Street, Jeanette, Pa. Married.
Cocco, Ludwig, 1334 Edgemont, Indianapolis, Ind. Married—Employed as Knitter—Wounded Sept 1944 near Moselle River—Purple Heart—7th Armored Division Association.

Cook, Clarence L., 421 Second Street, Brownsville, Pa. Married—Employed by Wenton Mines, Isabelle, Pa.—Bronze Star—American Legion.
Cooksey, James C., (KIA October, 1944, Holland).

Collins, Francis B., (KIA Dornot, France, September 10, 1944). Buried U. S. Mil. Cem. Hamm, Lux. Plot F, Row 2, Grave 40. (M) Mrs. Flora A. Collins, 2752 Newton Avenue, San Diego, California.

Connaster, Bruce, Route No. 1, Sevierville, Tennessee.
Coonrod, Floyd L., 923 Howard Street, Petoskey, Mich. Married—Watchmakre.

Cooper, J. M., No information.

Conyers, James B., (CO. Officer) Transferred to Co. “C” 23rd A. I. B. fall of 1943.

Coronado, Leonse M., 1459 Jackson Street, Brownsville, Texas.

Cote, Joseph C., 323 Zion Street, Hartford, Conn. Married—One child—Employed by Royal Typewriter Co.—Two Purple Hearts—American Legion.
Counterman, Harold W., 608 Market Street, Bangor, Pa. Married—One child—Employed by Delaware Western Railway. POW, captured near St. Vith and wounded same day. Purple Heart—VFW—American Legion.

Csaken, A. L., No information.

Cuccia, Joseph S., 2543 North Mire Street, New Orleans, Louisiana.

Curtiss, Robert M., 133 Adames Street, Selmar, Tenn. Married—Three children—Service station attendant—Wounded October 31, 1944 in Holland.

Cutts, Robert, Chatesworth Road, Tabernacle, N. J. Single—Auto mechanic at Ft. Dix, N. J.—Purple Heart—Silver Star—VFW.

Cyphers, T. E., No information.

Dahmer, William H., Franklin, W. Va. Married girl from Amsterdam, Holland. One boy—Owns and operates Service station, cafe and tourist court. Purple Heart and certificate of merit for outstanding work as a mechanic. Wounded September 21, 1944, Longville, France.

Dawson, Leroy, Barton, Maryland. Single—Coal miner.

Darknell, Samuel J., Baldwin, Mich. Married—Four boys—Pulp wood business—Injured August 15, 1944 on march to Chartres—Purple Heart.

Delbrugge, Albert B., 1214th Street, Cumberland, Maryland. Married—One child—Cab operator—American Legion.

Delorafona, R. E., Transferred.

Deely, Thomas E., Transferred from Company to overseas outfit in 1943.

Delture, Edward F., 282 Union Avenue, Brooklyn, N. Y. Married—Truck driver—Wounded near Moselle River.

Deluca, Casper, 1633 Latona Street, Philadelphia, Pa. Single—Attending automobile trade school.

DeMarco, Casper, Route No. 1, East Kingston, N. Y.

DeSimone, Justine, (KIA August 15, 1944 on march to Chartres) Buried Aug 1944 U. S. Mil. Cem. Corneille, France. (M) Mrs. Millie DeSimone, 50 Standwix St., Brooklyn, N. Y.

De Vito, Austine, 396 DeGraw Street, Brooklyn, N. Y. Single—Clothes presser—Mooney Post VFW.
Devoney, Nichols, No information.
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Dileo, Rocco, 28 First Street, Glen Cove, Long Island, N. Y. Married—Floor finishing work. POW, captured at Moselle River—7th Arm’d. Div. Association.
Dotson James V., Now serving in U. S. Army in Germany as Staff Sgt. Home address: Route No. 1, Magnolia, Texas.

Drasher, Leo B., No information.

Driver, George W., (KIA Sept. 10, 1944, Dornot, France). Buried U. S. Mil. Cem. Limey, France. Body returned to U. S. and buried in Cemetery, Plain Grove, Pa. (M) Mrs. Ada Driver, 1616 E. Washington Street, New Castle, Pa.

Ducasse, Edward, No information.
Dugas, Fred, 816 Bank Avenue, New Iberia, Louisiana.

Duncan, James A., 1401 Gipson, Far Rockaway, N. Y. Married—One daughter—Employed by Queens Borough Gas and Electric Co. Purple Heart—Catholic War Vets—American Legion.

Dunkel, D. R.., No information.

Dunphey, William, No information.
Dutt, Earl, 447 South Main Street, Bangor, Pa. Married—Empoyed by A. & P. Store—Junior Vice Commander VFW.

Dupleis, Herman J., 819 South Roch Street, New Orleans, La. Seaman—Purple Heart.

Early, Earnest J., Route No. 1, Turtleon, Tenn. Married—One child.

Eason, Henry P., 318 Ann Street, Wilmington, N. C. Married—One child—Purple Heart—Wounded near Moselle River, September, 1944.

Edgil, Cecil, Route No. 1, Townley, Alabama. Married—Two children.

Edwards, Gratton T., died January 10, 1949 (BRO) Hal C. Edwards, Ripley, Tenn.

Ellis, Donald, 106 Loder Avenue, Endicott, N. Y.

English, Joseph A., 517 W. Choclate Avenue, Hershey, Pa. Injured near Moselle River September, 1944—Purple Heart.
Enlow, Fredrick G., 1009 Hanley, Boone, Iowa.

Estep, Claude R., (KIA January 27, 1945). buried in Henri Chapelle No. 1. Body returned to U. S. and buried at New Hope Baptist Church, Wilkes County, N. C. William E. Jones, Ray L. Hayes and James A. Kiger attended funeral. (M) Mrs. Nettie Estep, Star Route, Oakwood, N. C.

Ettel, Aleium, Freeport, Minn. Married—Two children—Trucking business. After return from overseas he served with an Engineering Battalion in Camp Swift, Tex., and Ft. Lewis, Washington.

Euratt, David C., Route No. 3, Box 607, Salisbury, N. C. Single—Race car driver.

Evans, Robert, Company officer from winter 1942 until fall 1943.
Faber, Edmund W., (KIA October 1944, Holland). Buried in Henri Chapelle No. 1. Body returned to U. S. and buried. Ted Horetzko and Kenneth Willborg attended funeral. (M) Mrs. Stanley Faber, 5104 N. Hamlin, Chicago, Ill.

Faloria, Louis, (KIA January 22, 1945, near Bern, Belgium). Buried January, 1945 Henry Chapelle No. 1. One daughter. (W) Mrs. Teresa Faleria, 3720 Dawson Street, Pittsburgh, Pa.
Farrell, Frank, (Medic) 1610 Race Street, Cincinnati, Ohio.

Fawcett, Merlin L., (KIA) Buried October, 1944, Henry Chapelle No. 1. (W) Mrs. Vivian L. Fawcett, 2727 McCeelan Street, Salt Lake City, Utah.

Fawley, Harry O., Gaithersburg, Maryland.

Ferrara, Augesting J., “Guss”, 345 Division Street, Bogota, N. J.

Ferry, George W. M., No information.
Firestone, Harold L., (KIA) Buried October, 1944, U. S. Mil. Cem. No. 1, Audilly, France.

Fischer, Thomas N., (KIA October, 1944, Holland. Body removed to Neville Cemetery, Belgium).

Fisher, C. J., No information.
Ford, W. E., No information.
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Fortunes, Louis J., No information.
Fox, Paul E. Black Mountain, N. C. Single—Steam fitter. Wounded January 25, 1945, by machinegun bullet in left chest—Purple Heart—Silver Star—American Legion.

Foust, Charles R., Reported missing in action December 22, 1944. One year later War Department declared him officially dead. A memorial service was held, and a nice marker placed at his home church in his honor, Buffalo Presbyterian, Greensboro, N. C. (M) Mrs. M. C. Foust, 3108 Church Street, Greensboro, N. C.

Foy, Lloyd, (KIA September 10, 1944, after crossing Moselle River). (M) Mrs. Lucy Foy, Route No. 1, Richland N. C.

Franco, John, 1617 Lister Avenue, Kansas City, Mo. Married—Two children—Transport truck driver. POW, captured December 22, 1944.
Frayser, John W., 110 F Street NE, Linton, Indiana. Married—Repair man and mechanic—Purple Heart—American Legion—POW, captured December 22, 1944.
Freed, Cleo S., 2315 Jackson, Corvallis, Oregon. Married—One daughter—Former Co. Officer. Now instructor in Oregon ROTC, Captain.

Freedman, Isadore, (DOW) Buried Oct. 1944, Henri Chapelle No. 1, (F) Mr. Morris Freedman, 511 W. 3rd St., Plainville, N. J.

Freeman, William B., 2444 West McMieken Ave., Cincinnati, Ohio. Married, three children—VFW. POW, Captured Dec. 22, 1944.
Frenchman, Atkins, (POW, captured Dec. 22, 1944) Died at Fitzsimmons Gen. Hospital, Denver, Col. Sept. 27, 1945 of pulmonary tuberculosis. body returned to his home and buried at Hennipin, Okla. (Sister) Miss Beatrice Frenchman, Box 344, Hennipin, Okla.

Fry, Jesse M., 209 N. Campbell St., Polo, Ill. Married—three children—Carpenter—American Legion.
Fuhs, Charles E., 416 W. 11th St., Kansas City, Mo. Married—One child. Attending railroad communication school. POW, captured Dec. 22, 1944.

Fuls, Earl J., Mt. Bethel, Pa. Rt. No. 1. Married—Two children—Knitter. Wounded Jan. 22, 1944. Purple Heart.
Funkhouser, Harold W., (KIA Oct. 29, 1944, Holland) Buried Henri Chapelle No. 1. Row 18, Plot “A”, Grave No. 42.

Gagne, Arthur J., (KIA) Buried March 1945, Henri Chapelle No. 1. (M) Mrs. Clare Carroll, 227 Tuttle, Fall River, Mass.
Gallegos, Joseph A., (DOW) Buried Sept. 1944, US Military Cem. No. 1, Champigneul, France. (M) Mrs. Floria M. Gallegos, 646 C St., Salida, Col.
Gamble, Morse W., Box 686, Wayne, Mich. Married—One child—Bartender. Silver Star—Purple Heart—American Legion.
Gannon, W. E., No information.

Garber, V., No information.

Gardner, R. S., No information.

Garren, Fred L., Marble, N. C. Married—Furniture work.

Garner, William G., Rt. No. 2, Oxford, Ala. Married—Attending Vets School—Bronze Star.

Garvie, Herbert C., 1145 East Lehman, Lebanon, Pa. Married—Two children. Employed by Bethlehem Steel—VFW—POW, captured Dec. 22, 1944.

Gilbert, Roscoe M., 529 Summit, Connersville, Ind. Married.

Gillespie, Floyd V., Wounded Aug. 15, 1944. No other information.
Gillespie, James M., 327 Haywood Ave., Knoxville, Tenn. POW, captured Dec. 22, 1944.

Gilliam, Wesley, Rt. No. 2, Sparta, N. C.—Single—Owns and operates farm—Purple Heart.

Glarman, Edward H., No information.

Gleason, Lee M., Box 415, Clifton Forge, Va. Married—One child—Electrician. Wounded near Moselle River Sept 1944—Purple Heart.

Goebel, Paul F., (KIA April 5, 1945) Buried April 8 at Ittenbach No. 1. Later removed to Margraten, Holland. On January 12, 1949 his body was 

49
returned to US and buried in Mt. Hope Cemetery, Rochester, N. Y. (M) Mrs. Andrew Goebel, 116 Irvington Rd., Rochester 7, N. Y.
Goldberg, Eugene, (KIA March 27, 1945). Buried Ittenbach No. 1. Body returned to U. S. and buried December 14, 1948 at Faringdale Cemetery, Faringdale, N. Y. (F) Mr. Irvin Goldberg, 333 Neptune, Brooklyn, N. Y.
Gossett, John R., Route No. 2, Cartersville, Ga. Married—Two children—Employed by Good Year, Clearwater plant No. 3.
Grab, John T., 1313 South Derbingly Street, New Orleans, Louisiana.

Gresham, Lee J., Route No. 2, Kittrell, N. C. Discharged January 15, 1945, after receiving an eye wound while stationed at Camp Polk, La. Married—One child—Farmer.

Green, Emmett, Route No. 1, Bladen, Ohio. POW, captured December 22, 1944.

Grubbs, Lennie, Box 447, Williston, S. C. Single—Hardware business—Bronze Star—American Legion.

Guido, Joseph J., 2648 W. Superior Street, Chicago 12, Ill. Married—One child.

Guilbault, Henry J., (KIA). Buried April 1945, Ittenbach No. 1.

Gwidz, Walter, Transferred from Co. in 1943.
Hall, Richard T., (Co. Clerk) Kerrville, Tenn. Single—Farmer-Planter—Purple Heart—Quartermaster of Post 8022 VFW—American Legion.

Hamby, Walter, Route No. 2, Elligjy, Ga. Married—Two children—Orchard work—POW, captured December 22, 1944.

Hammer, George J. Jr., 1522 Burdette Street, New Orleans, Louisiana. Single—Employed by Standard Coffee Co—VFW.

Hampton, Lenord G., Route No. 2, Jamestown, Mo. POW, captured December 22, 1944.

Haney, Clyde H., (KIA August 15 on march to Chartres, France). Buried at Chateaudun, France. Body will be returned to U. S. (Sister) Mrs. Annie B. Green, 221 N. Second Street, Greenfield. Tenn.

Hancock, Hollis H., 826 Warbash Avenue, Ottumwa, Iowa. POW, captured December 22, 1944.
Hardy, Herbert E., Route No. 1, Box 162, Scotland Neck, N. C. Married—Two children—Farmer—American Legion.

Harrill, Martin L., 530 W. Main Street, Forest City, N. C. Single—Purple Heart—Wounded in Holland October, 1944.

Harris, Merton P., Mineral Point, Wisconsin.

Harris, James R., Route No. 7, Humboldt, Tennessee.

Harless, Columbus V., 40 Circlewood, Tuscaloosa, Alabama. Married—One child—Employed by Southern Bell Telephone Co.—Bronze Star—American Legion.

Harold, Obie T., Mt. Airy, N. C.

Hass, Martin F., (KIA January 22, 1945, Belgium). Buried Henri Chapelle No. 1. Body returned to U. S. and buried in Legion Plot, Marinette, Wisconsin. (F) Mr. John Hass, Route No. 1, Marinette, Wisconsin.

Hassebrock, Loren W., Mt. Pulaski, Ill. Single—Carpenter. Wounded August 15, 1944, near Chateaudun, France—Purple Heart.

Hassebrock,, Harold, Chestnut, Illinois. Married—Two children—Parts man for International Harvester Dealer—Transferred from Co. to Battalion Medics in 1942—Wounded at Melun, France, August 24, 1944.

Hattaway, Alex, Route No. 1, Warthen, Ga. Married.

Hauer, Lenord L., 62 Perkins Street, Malden, Mass. Married-First Sgt. After Mabb left for States. Wounded September 8, 1944, near Moselle River. Manufacturing children’s wear and news sales business. Purple Heart—Bronze Star.
Haut, Alvin L., 262 Orchard Street, Elgin, Illinois. Married—One child—Tool work—American Legion.
Hayes, Ray L., Wilkesboro, N. C., Route No. 2. Married—Two children—Baker—POW, captured December 22, 1944.
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Hefner, C. E., No information.

Heller, David, (KIA). buried January, 1945, Henri Chapelle No. 1. (M) Mrs. Tillie Heller, 3350 28th Street, Long Island City, N. Y.

Henson, Martin L., (DOW received September 9, 1944). Buried February, 1945 U. S. Mil. Cem. No. 1, Hamm, Luxemburg. Body returned to U. S. in July, 1948 and buried at Bethel Grove Cemetery, Cynthia, Ky., with full military rites. (M) Mrs. Mary Henson, 226 Wilson Avenue, Cynthia, Kentucky.
Herring, George, “Red”, Transferred from Co.
Herman, Elwood M., (KIA March 27, 1945). Buried April 2, 1945, Ittenbach No. 1. Herman was first wounded in January, 1945, and later killed. Body returned and buried at Hartleton Cemetery January 9, 1949. (M) Mrs. Marie Herman, Route No. 1, Millmont, Pennsylvania.

Hibbs, Robert L., Box 6, Roblin, Louisiana.
High, Howard B., (KIA September 10, near Dornot, France). Buried in Luxemburg. (W) Mrs. Tressa F. High, Route No. 5, Chambersburg, Pa.

Higginbotham, James L., Bronze Star—No other information.
Hilbun, James H., 937 East Parkway, S. Memphis, Tenn. Single—Barber—Wounded September 18, 1944—Purple Heart—VFW.

Hill, Dee N., Route No. 2, Warrior, Ala.
Hillman, John R., (KIA). Buried October, 1944. Hillman was killed while on patrol duty.

Hinchey, Robert E., “Pat”, 136 Profile Avenue, Portsmouth, N. H. Married—One daughter—Law student at Boston University Law School. Joined Co. Nov. ’44, served as Platoon leader, motor officer and executive officer until Sept. 1945—Silver Star.
Hess, Lloyd J., Route No. 4, Bemieji, Minnesota.

Hobel, John J., (KIA August, 1944, near Chateaudun, France). Buried U. S. Mil. Cem St. Corneille, France. Home address, 1165 Chestnut Street, Wyandotte, Michigan.
Hobbs, Woodrow W., Box 541, Radford, Va. Married—One child—Meat cutter for Krogers. Injured September 23, 1944, near Metz, France. Purple Heart.

Hodges, Henry M. Jr., Box 491, Calhoun Falls, S. C. Married—Owns and operates furniture and jewelry store. Purple Heart—Bronze Star—American Legion.

Hoffman, Vernon V., Tea, S. D. Married—One child—Wounded and captured December 23, 1944 at Bastogne—American Legion.

Holmes, Jack (Former Co. Officer).

Hollingsworth, William H., No information.

Hopkins, Walter S., Box 624, Davenport, Washington. POW, captured December 22, 1944. Killed a few days later while a POW at Geraldstein.

Hopper, Ben W., Yuma, Tenn. Married—Two children—farmer and storekeeper.

Horetzko, Theodore, 2123 W. Superior Street, Chicago 12, Illinois. Single—Parts man in automobile rebuilding concern. Bronze Star—7th Armored Division Association.

Horsley, C. E., No information.

Howell, Willie W., Route No. 1, Goodview, Va, Married—One child—employed by American Viscose Corp., Roanoke, Va. POW, captured December 22, 1944. 7th Armored Division Association.

Howard, Hugh B., 701 6th Avenue, West Cullman, Alabama. Married—Co-owner and operator of Service Station at 4th Street West Cullman, Alabama. VFW—American Legion.

Huffman, Guy R., (KIA, September, 1944, near Moselle River). Buried U. S. Military Cemetery No. 1, Audilly, France. Memorial Service held at home church, Methodist Church, Morgantown, N. C. (F) Mr. P. J. Huffman, Route No. 2, Newton, N. C.

Hughes, G. J., No information.

Hughes, John P., “Cotton”, Transferred to overseas outfit in 1943.
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Hughes, Nichols J., “Pop”, Present address: M/Sgt. N. J. Hughes, 6707740, Hdq. South Post, Ft. Myer, Va. Married—At present working in U. S. Army Pentagon Building. (AGD) Washington, D. C. Wounded October 1944, near Boxmeer, Holland, when jeep turned over. Purple Heart—Bronze Star.
Huett, John, Transferred to 48th Amr’d Inf. Regt. medics in 1942.

Hunt, Douglass P., 15 Eliard Avenue, Great Neck, Long Island, N. Y. Single—Attending college—Wounded September 8, 1944, by shrapnel—Purple Heart.

Inglin, H. M., M.D. (Headed Battalion medics) 803 South Limestone Street, Springfield, Ohio. Now practicing medicine in home town of Springfield, Ohio.
Ingram, Robert, “Cotton”, Transferred to another outfit in 1943.

Jendrzejeweski, Chester. “Bob”, (DOW April 5, 1945). Buried Ittenbach No. 1. Body returned to U. S. and buried with full Military rites, service at St. Florians Catholic Church and burial in Mt. Olive Cemetery. (B) Mr. Raymond Jendrzejewski, 2967 Council, Hamtramck, Michigan.

Jenkins, Clinton W., (KIA August 15 near Chateaudun, France). Buried August, 1944, U. S. Military Cemetery, St. Corneille, France. (M) Mrs. Ollie Jenkins, Route No. 2, Marion, N. C.
Johns, Elmer, 6532 Mitchell Avenue, Detroit, Michigan.
Johnson, Haden C., 107 Cherokee Street, Murphy, N. C. Married—Wounded August, 1944.

Johnson, Leo S., Injured August 15, 1944, on march to Chartres, France. Silver Star. No other information.

Johnson, Douglas, (KIA April 4, 1945, Germany). He was first wounded October 4, 1944, in Holland, buried Margraten, Holland, Plot “A” Row 9, Grave No. 14.
Jones, Kenneth P., 25 E. Turnbull Avenue, Havertown, Pa. Served as Co. officer in the capacity of executive Off. and platoon leader. Single—Service engineer for Scott Paper Co., Chester, Pa. Purple Heart—Silver Star.
Jones, William E., Box 752, Elkin, N. C. Married—One boy—District circulation supervisor for daily newspaper (Winston-Salem Journal and Sentinel). 7th Arm’d Div. Association.

Jones, James H., 630 Waugh Street, Greensboro, N. C. Married—One boy—Asst. manager of Multigraph sales agency office. Wounded on Moselle River crossing—Purple Heart.

Jones, Zeb (Bugler), Route No. 1, Pembroke, N. C.
Kalosky, Alex J., 2947 Eddie Street, Youngstown, Ohio. Wounded September 1944 near Moselle River.

Kansas, Albert H., (KIA). Buried Jan. 1945, Henri-Chapelle. (M) Mrs. Gussie Kansas, 2514 N. 10th Street, Philadelphia, Pa.
Kazmirczak, Walter J., Box 88, Curwood Road, Holland, Ohio. POW, captured December 22, 1944.
Kaashmar, Paul, 203 Race Street, Stowe, Pennsylvania.

Kellner, Max, 306 W. 94th Street, New York, N. Y. Married girl from Switzerland. Fur operator—Purple Heart—Wounded near Moselle River, September, 1944.

Kelly, William E., 315 Alexander Street, Henderson, N. C. married, Wounded near Moselle River, September, 1944—American Legion.

Kermath, Charles H., 4851 North Hamilton, Chicago, Illinois. Married—Two children—Carpenter. POW, captured December 22, 1944.

Kiedaisch, Arthur, Grant Park, Illinois. Married—Interior and exterior decorator. Wounded near Moselle River—Two purple Hearts—VFW.
Kiger, James A., RFD No. 3, Box Mountain Rd., Winston-Salem, N. C. Married—One child—Asst. manager of meat market.
Killworth, L., No information.

Kincaid, Ewell D., Ozona, Tex. Married—One boy—Rancher.

Knox, John R. (KIA October 19, 1944, by sniper in Holland). Buried in Henri Chapelle No. 1. In December 1947, his body was returned to U. S. and buried in the
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cemetery near Ashley, Illinois. (M) Mrs. Elizabeth Knox, Route No. 1, Woodlawn, Ill.
Knupp, Alfred L., Route No. 1, Old Fort, N. C. POW, captured December 22, 1944.
Konchek, Nichols J. No information.

Komray, Raymond L., 18201 Robert Street, Melvindale, Mich. Married—Two children—Employed by Ford Motor Co. Attending school to become electricians.

Koonce, Junius H., Route no. 2, Tarboro, N. C. Single—Farm manager—Bronze Star—Silver Star—Purple Heart—Croix de Guerre by French Government.

Koules, William S., (KIA March 27, 1945). Buried at Ittenbach No. 1. (F) Mr. Speros B. Koulos, 561 N. Root Street, Aurora, Ill. Silver Star.

Krug, Paul, Route No. 2, Yorkville, Ill. Single—Construction work.
Kuenzel, William R., 16 Colonial Road, Oakland, N. J. Married—Domestic work—American Legion.

Kuver, Ernest A., 503 Englehardt Terrace, Ridgefield, N. J.

Kwiatkowski, Joseph S., 1904 South Leavitt St., Chicago, Ill.

Lamb, Ralph E., 411 Lincoln Street, Jameston, N. Y. POW, captured December 22, 1944.

Lamont, Walter T., (KIA in Holland by artillery). Buried U. S. Military Cemetery, Margraten, Holland. (M) Mrs. Bella Lamont, 283 Virginia Avenue, Jersey City, New Jersey.

Landers, J. C., No information.
Laughter, John A., Box 184, Hendersonville, N. C.

Lemay, Lewis R. A., (KIA August 15, 1944 on march to Chartres, France). Buried Corneille, France. Body will be transferred to American National Cemetery. (M) Mrs. Mary A. Lemay, 50 Center Street, Biddleford, Maine.

Lemon, Robert T. Jr., (KIA August 15, 1944, on march to Chartres as platoon leader). Buried at St. Corneille, France. Remains will be sent to his home and buried in family plot at Presbyterian Cemetery, Lynchburg, Va. (M) Mrs. Mary B. Lemmon, 900 Court Street, Lynchburg, Virginia.
Levinson, Arthur B., 2422 North Natrona, Philadelphia, Pa. Married—One child—Accounting business—Silver Star—Purple Heart.
Lee, Mitchell. D., Route No. 1, Lumberton, Miss. Married—One child—Injured August 15, 1944, near Marboue, France, on march to Chartres. Purple Heart with Cluster—American Legion.

Lewis, Richard J., Route No. 4, Louisville, Ohio. Married—One child—Employed by Timken Roller Bearing Co.

Lewis, Van H., Route No. 2, Center, Alabama. Married—One child—Farming—Bronze Star—Purple Heart.

Lewis, William E., 522 W. 39th Street Terrace, Kansas City, Mo. Married—Three children—Field representative of national CIO. POW, captured, Dec. 22, 1944—AVC.

Loduscki, John, No information.

Long, Herman L., 1234 Reed Street, Denver, Colorado.

Love, John, Discharged 1942.

Lowery, Robert W., No information.

Lloyd, Mac, 1609 Angier Street, Durham, N. C. Wounded near Moselle River.

Luezkiewicz, Jesse T., 1051 Louis Street, Camden, New Jersey.

Ludwig, Albert G., Home address: Box 1, Clarence, Pa. Now serving in U. S. Army.

Lynch, James T., 28 Maltar Street, Binghampton, N. Y. Married—Two children—Sheet metal worker—Wounded three times, France, Holland and on the way into St. Vith. Purple Heart with three oak leaf clusters.

Lynn, Franklin, No information.
Mabb, Fredrick J., (1st Sgt.). Box 213 Scottville, N. Y. Married—One child.

Mandile, Anthony J., 319 Gorge Road, Cliffside Park, New Jersey.

Manguno, Arthur F., 2536 St. Ann, New Orleans, Louisiana.

Marcu, John, 24 Mill Street, Wheatland, Pa. Married—two children—Machine operator—Wounded August 15, 1944, on march to Chartres—Purple Heart with cluster

53

—7th Arm’d Div. Association.
Marinonchek, George J., No information.
Mastokas, James D., 923 Ave. St. John, Box 55, New York, N. Y. Married—One child—Wounded Sept. 10, 1944, by bayonet in chest and leg. Purple Heart.

Matern, Francis W., Cabery, Illinois. Married—One child—Farming.

Mathiason, Emory J., Storey City, Iowa. Married—Farmer—VFW.

Meechum, Elmer F., 4550 Royal Avenue, Jacksonville, Fla. Married—Two children—Express business—Purple Heart—Disabled American Vets. Wounded December 21, ’44, near Petitthier.

McBride, John W., (Former Company Clerk—transferred to Service Co.), 16 Depot Street, Concord, N. C. Single—Co-owner and operator of sporting goods store. 7th Arm’d Div. Association.

McCartney, Francis J., (KIA August 15, 1944, on march to Chartres, France).
McCaffery, R. E. M., (KIA September 7, 1944, near Moselle River). Body returned to U. S. and buried beside his small son who died while McCaffery was stationed at Ft. Benning, Ga. Calvary Church Cemetery, Bouge Chilto, Miss. One daughter survives.
McClory, Guy, 29 Latrofe Street, Grafton, W. V. Married—One daughter—U. S. mail employee—American Legion.
McClure, William M., (Former Co. Officer) 1228 North 43rd Street, East St. Louis, Illinois. Married—One daughter—Co-owner of livestock commission. Left Co. “B” November 30, 1944—American Legion.

McCoury, Gurney, Route No. 2, Shell Creek, Tenn. Married—Employed by American Bemberg Corp., Elizabethton, Tennessee. Purple Heart.

McGouvern, J. F., No information.

McLain, George D., Box 102 Gloster, Miss. Single—Salesman.

Miday, Bernard E., 1142 N. Chapel Street, Louisville, Ohio. Married—Three children (one set of twins, boys). Carpenter—Purple Heart—American Legion—Disabled Vets Association—POW, captured December 22, 1944.
Milazzo, Frank, 354 Melrose Street, Brooklyn, N. Y. Married—One child.

Miller, Glen R., Route No. 2, McArthur, Ohio—Single.

Miller, Edward J., “Red”, 302 West Broadway, Mauch Chunk, Pa.

Misseldine, Garland, Box 205, Route No. 7, Texarkana, Ark. Single—Attending Texas Trade School—Purple Heart.

Mora, Ignatius G., 22121 Wilmont Street, East Detroit, Mich. Married—One child—Wounded Sept. 8, 1944 Dornot, France—Purple Heart.

Morris, Edward R., Present address: S/Sgt. Edward R.Morris, Co “B” 6th Med. Tank Bn,, Camp Hood, Texas. Married—Two children. Home address: 3506 Washington Avenue, Newport News, Va. Wounded September 25, 1944, Longville, France. Purple Heart—Commendation Ribbon.

Morrow, John F., 605 Going Snake, Tahlequah, Okla. Married—One boy—Attending college—1st Sgt. in Company M, 276 Inf. Bn., Oklahoma National Guard. Injured in Chartres, France by flash of shot burst in eye—Purple Heart.

Moore, Homer, Hall. Tennessee.
Moore, Otto R., 313 Water Street, Petosky, Mich. Married—Two boys—Wounded by mortar shell March 29, 1945—Purple Heart.

Moorehead, James, Discharged 1943, Ellenboro, N. C. Married—One boy—Farming.

Murchison, David L., General Delivery, Garrett, Texas. Married—One child—Employed in Ford Plant, Dallas, Texas. Wounded by shrapnel October 15, 1944—Purple Heart.
Myers, Golden L., Route No. 1, Lebanon Junction, Ky. Married—One child—Employed at the L. & N. Shops, Louisville, Ky. Wounded in early September 1944 near Moselle River—Purple Heart.

Neff, Robert F., 801 Title & Trust Bldg., Phoenix, Ariz. Married—Two children—Graduated from Gen. Younts American Institution of Foreign Trade and attended
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University of Mexico. Special agent, Paul Revere Life Insurance Company, and has side line of used cars and wholesale sporting goods and real estate broker. Wounded September 9, 1944—Purple Heart.

Nelson, Leslie, 606 E. Fritz Avenue, Ladysmith, Wisconsin. Married—Two childrern—Engineer for local creamery.
Nicholson, Ulmer D., Route No. 2, Richton, Miss. Married—One child—Farmer—Purple Heart—Silver Star.
Nile, Jack D., (KIA April 13, 1945 near Binolen, Germany as shrapnel penetrated his head above left eye). Buried in Margraten, Holland. (M) Mrs. Bert Sagy, Pleasant View Inn, U. S. 1, Fort Pierce, Florida.

Nordgaard, Bennie G., (KIA September 9, 1944). Buried U. S. Military Cemetery, Hamm, Luxembourg. (F) Mr. Nels Nordgaard, Box 86, Tuttle, N. Dakota.
Norton, Marcus H., Route No. 3, Hendersonville, N. C. Single—Sawmill operator.
Nost, Donald F., News reporter for Company for 23rd Battalion newspaper “Wolf Call.” No other information.

Novinska, Aloysius C., Fennimore, Wisconsin. Married—Repair mechanic at McCormick-Deering, also operates move projector at local theatre in evenings—VFW.

Nowell, Russell D., Box 72, Weldon, N. C. Married—POW, captured December 22, 1944. Nowell is totally disabled as the results of Tuberculosis.
O’Connor, J. J., No information.

Ochran, Albert F., 20231 Terrell, Detroit, Mich. POW, captured Dec. 22, 1944.

Oettchen, Robert, Route No. 1, Clear Lake, Iowa. Single—Two Purple Hearts. First wounded October 16, 1944, next time he was shot in left leg January 25, 1945.

Oldham, Farris, Helena, Ala. Married—Employed by Southeastern Greyhound Company. Wounded first at Chateaudun August 15, 1944, next time September 9, 1944, at Moselle River. Two Purple Hearts.

Oliveri, Joseph (KIA near Moselle River September 8, 1944). Buried in U. S. National Cemetery, Limey, France. (M) Mrs. Fannie Oliveri, 1239 W. Ohio Street, Chicago, Illinois.
Ontl, Frank J., 914 Walter Avenue, East St. Louis, Illinois.
Ostter, Robert—Ostter, Rowland, twins, Transferred from Air Corps to Company.

Owens, Willard W., 456 N. 27th Street, East St. Louis, Illinois. Married—One son—Rigger at Aluminum Ore Co. Wounded first time September 8, 1944, near Moselle River, Thionville, France. Next time, April 4, 1945, near Kassel, Germany—Purple Heart with Cluster—VFW.

Palhamus, Kenneth H., Supply Officer, Replacement Center, Camp Kilmer, N. J. Married—Three children—Came to Company “B” in April 1945 after serving as Company Commander for Company “A” and Company “C” 23rd Bn, he also served in G-2. Captain Palhamus has served in U. S. Army for sixteen years, eight of them as a First Sergeant. He graduated from the Infantry Officers School in 1941—Silver Star—Bronze Star.
Pate, J. M. No information.

Pate, L. E., No information.

Patterson, Clarence E., Houstonville, N. C. Single—Farming—POW, captured December 23, 1944—Reinliste in U. S. Army. Served in Korea.

Paxton, Harry M., (KIA October, 1944, Overloon, Holland).
Pellar, George B., 17196 Arlington Street, Detroit 12, Mich. Married—Two children—Die setter for Parson Co.
Pennington, Dale R., 15655 Woodland Dr., Dearborn, Mich. Married—Painter and decorator—POW, captured December 22, 1944.

Peragin, Salvatore J., 32-28 100th Street, Corona, N. Y.

Perrung, Carl M., (KIA February 6, 1945). Buried Henri Chapelle No. 1. Body returned to U. S. and buried in New Soldiers Lot, Woodside Cemtery, Middletown, Ohio. Twice wounded, first October 3, 1944, fatally wounded February 6, 1945.
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Philo, Fred W., (KIA September 4, 1944 near Dornot, France). Buried in U. S. Military Cemetery, Hamm, Luxembourg. (W) Mrs. Leona M. Philo, 521 N. 13th Street, St. Joseph, Missouri.
Phipps, Roy E., 2743 North Water Street—Decatur, Illinois. Married.
Picou, Joseph F., Little Collieu Route, Houma, La. Married—One child—Fisherman—Wounded September 7, 1944 in left leg—Purple Heart—VFW.

Pistella, John S., (KIA October 29, 1944, Liessel, Holland). Body returned to U. S. and buried January 6, 1949, Calvary Cemetery, Pittsburgh, Pa. (S) Mrs. Frances Wallace, 5116 Dearham Street, Pittsburgh 24, Pa.

Ponsone, John, (KIA September, 1944, Dornot, France).
Porter, Edmind A., 3964 Washington Boulevard, St. Louis, Mo. Married—Ministerial Studen—Bronze Star—POW, captured December 22, 1944.
Porter, Hollis G., (KIA April 13, 1945). Buried U. S. Mil. Cem. No. 1, Breune, Belgium. (F) Mr. Charles O. Porter, Route No. 2, Humboldt, Tenn.

Pouroznick, Michael, 47 North Hancock Street, Wilkes Barre, Pa. Single—Carpenter.
Powell, Oran G., West Millford, West Virginia.

Poore, Robert L., Route No. 1, Spencer, Tenn. Single—Purple Heart—Disabled Vet. Wounded September 8, 1944 after crossing Moselle River.

Pritchett, John K., Route No. 1, Gordo, Alabama. Single.

Raezer, Charles E., No information.
Rasmussen, Roy H., Box 548, Balaton, Minn. Married—No children at time of writing—Dray line operator—Purple Heart—American Legion.

Reece, Tollie, (Discharged in 1943) 1221 26th. Green Brier Avenue, Tuscaloosa, Alabama. Married.

Riddle, James H., Route No. 1, Box 9, Daytona Beach, Florida. Married—one child—Carpenter—Wounded September 19, 1944 near Metz, France. Purple Heart.

Roberts, Walter W., Buffalo Harper, Col. POW, captured December 22, 1944.

Roberts, Adill, No information.

Rogers, Alvin, 1215 Schiller Avenue, Louisville, Ky. Married—Student at University Louisville School of Music—Member of Louisville Philharmonic Orchestra—POW, captured December 22, 1944—American Legion.

Rosas, Julio, Jr., 2146 Beach Street, Tampa, Fla. Married—Two children—Artificial Limb Maker—Purple Heart—Wounded August 15, 1944.
Rosemyer, George F., No information.

Rozelle, Elmer, Morse, Wisconsin. Married—No children at present—Woodwork—VFW.

Runnels, C. E., No information.

Ryan, Kenneth J., 211 5th Avenue, South St. Paul, Minn, Married—Employed by Armour and Company.

Saboteur, Joseph, New Orlans, La. Discharged 1943. Saboteur was injured in a Bus-Train collision near Leesville, La.

Sadowski, John, No information.

Sanford, Nathan H., (KIA August 15, 1944, on march to Chartres, France). Buried U. S. Mil. Cem., St. Corneilla, France. (M) Mrs. Janie G. Sanford, Route No. 2, Harrisburg, Miss.

Scanga, Marion A., Box 184, Poncha Springs, Colorado. Married—One child—Wounded December 26, 1944, by machinegun, rifle and artillery fire—Silver Star—Purple Heart—American Legion.
Scannon, Joseph T., 23 Kiowa Avenue, Freehold, N. J. POW, captured December 22, 1944.

Schneider, W. F., Transferred to another outfit 1943.

Schreffler, Archie, 225 America Avenue, Butler, Pa. Single—Employed by Pullman Standard Car Co. Wounded near Moselle River September 8, 1944—Purple Heart.

Scott, Russel B., 125 Sterling Avenue, Mt. Sterling, Kentucky.
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Sculley, John E., (KIA), Buried Ittenbach No. 1.
Seva, Pete, No information.

Sewell, Curtis W., 3246 Roosevelt Boulevard, Jacksonville, Fla. Married—Twin boys—Watchmaker Sewell lost his left leg April 13, 1945. He was first wounded September, 1944, near Moselle River. Purple Heart—Bronze Star.
Seeny, Albert T., (KIA April 9, 1945). Buried Ittenbach No. 1. (M) Mrs. Laura G. Seeny, 20 Eaken Street, Salem, New Jersey.
Shepherd, Harold M., No information.

Shepherd, Willie S., Cocheane, Ala. Married—One child—Owns and operates cattle farm. Shepherd was wounded seriously by a German mortar shell which tore his lungs and heart. He was operated on twice, it requiring four stitches in the heart to sew up the place where the shell fragment came to rest after tearing through his chest and stopping in the muscles of the heart wall. Purple Heart.
Short, J. T., No information.
Silvestri, Philip P. 1007 Christian St., Philadelphia, Pa. Married—Two children—Employed by Dept. of Army at Frankfort Arsenal in Philadelphia. Wounded October 1, 1944, in Holland—Purple Heart.

Simpson, Tony (KIA). Buried Henri Chapelle No. 1. No other information.

Slawinski, John L., 151 Highland Avenue, Jersey City, N. J. Wounded near Moselle River September, 1944. Shot in foot by sniper.
Slivia, Louis, 147-09-106 Avenue, Jamaca, New York.

Smith, Frank, Morganville, New Jersey.
Smith, William C., No information.

Smith, Walter G., 309 W. Green Street, Wilson, N. C. Single—Air conditioning engineer—Commissioned 2nd Lieutenant on field May 8, 1945. Purple Heart—Bronze Star—American Legion.

Sohan, Robert V., No information.

Sosinska, Stanley, (KIA). (M) Mrs. Alice Sosinska, Atlantic Avenue, Edeington, Pennsylvania.

Spencer, Malhon, Route No. 1, Nelson, Pa. Single—Employed by Elkland Leather Co., Inc. POW, captured December 22, 1944—American Legion.
Speer, Frank E., 1762 Pearson Avenue, Birmingham, Alabama. Single—Purple Heart—VFW.

Stengel, Joseph, Died November 25, 1947 of brain abscess. At time of Joe’s death he was employed as cook by Congress Hotel, Chicago. (F) Mr. Peter Stengel, 643 Drummond Place, Chicago 4, Illinois.

Stephen, William R., Bourbon, Mo. Married—One child—Barber—POW, captured December 22, 1944—American Legion.

Stern, Jack, (KIA August 15, 1944 on march to Chartres, France). Buried St. Corneille, France. (B) Mr. Boris Stern, 1553 Union Post Road, Bronx, N. Y.

Stewart, Lester F., (KIA October 16, 1944). Buried Henri Chapelle No. 1. (W) Mrs. Lillian Stewart, Route No. 1, Pickens, South Carolina.

Stewart, David M., Buies Creek, N. C. Married—One child—POW, captured December 22, 1944—American Legion.
Steegmiller, Robert E., U. S. Army. Present address: PFC. Robert E. Steegmiller, 2467 A F R T U, Baer Field, Ft. Wayne, Indiana.

Stout, David E., No information.
Strezlec, Joseph J., Pleasant Street, West Richmond, Vermont. Single—Marble maker and operates chicken farm. Wounded on Moselle River September, 1944—Purple Heart—VFW.

Strumpf, Mac, 2662 Ocean Avenue, Brooklyn, N. Y. Married—Salesman.

Sutter, Martin R., 59 N. Second Street, Greenville, Pa. Married—Store room attendant Westinghouse Corp., Sharon, Pa. Two Purple Hearts. Wounded first September 8, 1944. Next time March 27, 1945, by bazooka.

Sutton, Bennie L., (KIA August 15, 1944, on march to Chartres, France). Buried
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at Chateaudun, France. (M) Mrs. Jennie G. Sutton, 1903 Battle Row, Augusta, Ga.
Sullivan, Joe B., Camden, Indiana. POW, captured December 22, 1944.
Szelewski, Alfred, 713 Emerson Avenue, Syracuse, New York.

Tanner, Wilbur P., (Officer) A temporary replacement from Service Co. 23rd A. I. B. who served on two occasions with Co. B.

Tate, Dennis H., Trolley Heights, Mexico, Mo. Married—One child—Employed at International Shoe Factory. POW, captured December 22, 1944.

Taylor, George A., (Swampy) Belle Clode, Fla. (Former Co. Officer).
Taylor, Thomas J., Spencer, Iowa. Married—Two children—Owns and operates Beer Tavern—VFW—American Legion—POW, captured December 22, 1944.

Taylor, E. J., No information.

Thomas, Lawrence B., Route No. 5, Holly Springs, Mississippi.

Thompson, Arthur R., No information.

Tremonti, Brom, (KIA). Buried Ittenbach No. 1. No other information.

Tussey, Arthur W., St. Francisville, Illinois. POW, captured December 2, 1944.
Underwood, Wilburn T., (KIA September, 1944, Dornot, France). Reburied January 30, 1945, Henri Chapelle No. 1. Two children. (W) Mrs. Ernestine Underwood, 311 E. Gaston, Savannay, Ga.

Van Natter, Roy L., Lake View, Michigan. Married—One child—Farmer—Purple Heart.
Vansteenberg, Emerson, POW, captured December 22, 1944. No other information.

Veld, John, No information.

Wactor, Leon, Route No. 1, Meadville, Mississippi.

Waldrop, John T., Box 52, Flat Rock, N. C.

Walker, Dale, (KIA). Shot in back by sniper October 1, 1944, and later killed on January 26, 1945. Buried at Henri Chapelle No. 1. Body returned and buried at Saltillo. Pa. November 20, 1947. (M) Mrs. Hazel Walker, Box 41, Saltillo, Pa.
Walter, Daniel A., Route No. 1, Turbotiville, Pa. Married—Two boys—Knitter at H. Warshow and Sons, Milton, Pa. VFW—American Legion—POW, captured December 22, 1944.
Watson, Melvin W., Box 497, Bowie, Texas.

Wall, Marion, Former Company Commander. Transferred to Ft. Knox, Ky., in 1943.

Wallace, Charles R., (KIA November 7, 1944). Buried in Henri Chapelle No. 1. Body returned to U. S. and buried in Elizabeth Town Cemetery, December 8, 1947. Survived by one daughter and three sons. (M) Mrs. Maude Wallace, Route No. 1, Fairmont, Indiana.

Walley, Louis G., Route No. 1, Richton, Mississippi.

Wease, Earl, Box 350, Route No. 2, Canton N. C. Single—Farmer—Purple Heart Cluster.

Webb, Kenneth, 2224 Flint, Waco, Texas. Married—One child—Mechanic at McDonald Automotive Supply Co., Waco, Texas. POW, captured December 22, 1944.

Welch, Cecil R., Route No. 1, Anna, Texas.

Wilkes, Robert E. Jr., Present address: S/Sgt Robt. E. Wilkes, 3394 Tng. Sqdn., Keesler Field, Miss. Married—Purple Heart—Wounded September, 1944.

Wilson, Norman E., 6019 Dorchester Avenue, Chicago, Illinois. POW, captured at Moselle River.

Wise, Leslie J., Transferred to Officer Candidate School, Ft. Knox, Ky., fall 1942.

Willborg, Kenneth, Home address: 2324 S. Highland Avenue, Berwyn, Illinois. Married. Now serving in U. S. Army.

Williams, Chester P., 5923 Glen Avenue, Sciotoville, Ohio. Married—One child—Employed by Ohio Stove Co., Portsmouth, Ohio. Wounded while serving in Holland—Purple Heart.

White, Dale, Box 68, Rock, West Virginia. Married—Two children—Coal miner—Wounded near Moselle River September, 1944—Purple Heart.
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White, Lloyd N., Route No. 1, Claypool, Ky., POW, captured December 22, 1944.
Whiteman, Joseph, Former Company Officer. Transferred from Company while in ETO and became Company Commander of “A” Company 23rd Armored Infantry Battalion.

Wolf, William H., Batavia, Ohio. Connected with Ohio State National Guard in civilian capacity. Wounded April 4, 1945.

Wrbel, John F., 743 Charles Street, Lucerne, Pennsylvania.

Young, George L., Route No. 1, Tahlequan, Oklahoma.

Zebracki, Walter J., 5092 Talbert, Detroit, Michigan.

Zehnder, William J., POW, captured December 22, 1944.

Zimmerman, Austin M., 42 Vine Street, Highspire, Pa. Married—One child—Philatelist.

Zinn, Walter Z., Dillsburg, Pennsylvania.

Zoltowski, Raymond, 7497 Abinton Avenue, Detroit 28, Mich. Married. Two boys. POW, captured December 22, 1944.
� Uncertain spelling since it is hard to read.


� Department of the Army General Order No. 48, dated 12 July 1948.


� Amended to 1st Platoon in Department of Defense Permanent Order No. 032-01, dated 1 February 1999.


� The name is actually Freda.


� Carlson served in combat as the Executive Officer of the 48th Armored Infantry Battalion and assumed command of 48 AIB after the war on 21 August 1945.


� The insignia for a 1st Lt. was a double bar.


� Absent without leave


� Uncertan if this is the correct spelling. Copy is blurry.


� Uncertan if this is the correct spelling. Copy is blurry.


� Uncertan if this is the correct spelling. Copy is blurry.


� Uncertan if this is the correct spelling. Copy is blurry.


� See the introductory section for more on the events at Marboué.


� Pascal Bulois’ book “Marboué, 15 Août 1944” contains a photograph of the B/23 column passing through Beaumont les Autels.


� Pfc. Guy R. Huffman of North Carolina, whose official date of death is 11 September 1944, although this account clearly places it on 7 September 1944.


� Pvt. Joseph Oliveri of Illinois, killed 8 September 1944.


� Pfc. Martin L. Henson of Illinois.


� See the introduction for more information on the men mentioned as killed in this paragraph.


� This action is also described by R. Felix Neff in his own memoir Vendetta Karma & Warrior for Patton (ch. 20).


� Keep in mind that at this time, Gene Jones was not present. So this account is from other sources. In fact, 23 AIB arrived in the area on 17 December and not 18 December, which his account gives. The entire account of the events in the Bulge should be taken only as hearsay, requiring separate confirmation or refutation.


� In fact, at the time of the German breakthrough on 21 December, B/23 was southeast of St. Vith and not northeast. He does get this right on page 38 when they returned to St. Vith in January 1945.


� A/23 combat interviewee 1st Lt. James Creswell reported Capt. James Foster was hit. But Foster was not killed.


� The medic who treated Falorio (correct spelling) may have been Pvt. Dwight Howdeshell of Med/23, who is officially listed as KIA 23 January 1945.


� Heuchelheim


� The 17th Tank Battalion After Action Report reports this incident: “The head of the column had reached Oberbiel by 0955 at which point we received rather heavy mortar fire and one tank was knocked out by an enemy bazooka, killing the tank driver and injuring several of the infantrymen who were riding the tank.” Lt. Bramley was C/23.


� Correct spelling is KOULOS


� Jones is in error here. B/23 was part of Task Force Wemple, which on 13 April 1945 attacked north from Balen to seize Volkringhausen. Binolen is north of Volkringhausen. The 17th Tank Battalion After Action Report of 14 (not 13) April 1945 includes “The infantry moved out of Binolen at 0600 ..”.


� The task force was Wemple, named for 17th Tank Battalion commander John Wemple.


� Actually XVIII


� KIA with official date of death of 20 January 1945





